

From DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS IN VASCULAR STRUCTURE AND REMODELING IN CANCER

Ewa Kurzejamska



Stockholm 2015

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Figures 1 and 3 were produced using Servier Medical Art. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by AJ E-Print AB © Ewa Kurzejamska, 2015 ISBN 978-91-7676-070-3

Mesenchymal stem cells in vascular structure and remodeling in cancer

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Ewa Kurzejamska

Principal Supervisor: Docent Piotr Religa Karolinska Institute Department of Medicine, Solna Unit of Microbial Pathogenesis

Co-supervisor(s): Professor Cecilia Söderberg-Nauclér Karolinska Institute Department of Medicine, Solna Unit of Microbial Pathogenesis

Docent Jonas Fuxe Karolinska Institute Department of Medical Biochemistry and Biophysics Division of Vascular Biology *Opponent:* Professor Levent Akyürek Gothenburg University Department of Medical Biochemistry and Cell Biology Division of Vascular Biology

Examination Board: Docent Christer Ericsson Karolinska Institute Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology

Docent Kourosh Lotfi Linköping University Department of Medical and Health Sciences Division of Drug Research

Docent Teresa Frisan Karolinska Institute Department of Cell and Molecular Biology Division of Infection and Cancer

ABSTRACT

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are present in vascular structure and play an important role in vessel remodeling in normal, as well as pathological conditions, such as transplant arteriosclerosis or tumor angiogenesis. Moreover, MSCs affect tumor growth and metastasis by production of chemokines, such as (C-C motif) ligand 7 (CCL7). Similar effect on tumor biology exert multiple other factors, such as CCAAT-enhancer binding protein β (C/EBP β), which is a transcription factor playing an essential role in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression.

In **study I**, presence of MSCs in vascular structure, as well as their role in vascular remodeling in transplant arteriosclerosis was analyzed. Specifically, rat allograft model was used to identify the predominant cell types associated with this process and to find factors crucial for their recruitment into the graft. This study identified adventitia as a potentially important source of mesenchymal stem cells that contribute to formation of intimal hyperplasia. Furthermore, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) was found as a potent chemokine for the recruitment of adventitial vascular progenitor cells to intimal lesions.

Study II and III focus on the role of C/EBP^β transcription factor in breast cancer progression. Namely, in study II C/EBPB was associated with epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) features in triple-negative human breast cancer and invasive areas of mammary tumors in MMTV-PyMT mice. In vitro studies showed that C/EBPB was repressed during EMT by miR-155, a breast cancer oncomiR. Moreover, C/EBPB depletion enhanced TGFβ response towards EMT and contributed to evasion of growth inhibitory response to TGFB. C/EBPB loss caused potentiated invasion and metastasis of breast cancer cells to the lungs in mouse 4T1 model. In addition, C/EBPB was shown to transcriptionally activate genes encoding epithelial junction proteins E-cadherin and coxsackie virus and adenovirus receptor (CAR). Study III was focused on explaining the mechanism of C/EBPβ effect on metastasis, as well as determining the relationship between C/EBP_β expression and survival of breast cancer patients. Firstly, study showed that decrease in C/EBPB expression was associated with shorter overall survival of breast cancer patients. Next, loss of C/EBPβ affected tumor growth, morphology and lung metastasis in murine 4T1 breast cancer model. Moreover, inhibition of C/EBP^β caused enhanced histocompatibility complex II (MHCII) expression and accumulation of CD45+, CD3+ and CD4+ lymphocytes in the tumors. Additional experiments confirmed the role of inflammation in C/EBPβ-mediated metastasis formation.

Study IV involved analysis of crosstalk between MSCs and colon cancer. Results demonstrated that MSCs affect CT26 tumor cell proliferation, migration and expression of different chemokines in coculture with CT26 cells *in vitro*, such as (C-C motif) ligand 7 (CCL7). The next goal of the study was to analyze the effect of CCL7 overexpression on tumor progression in mouse CT26 colon cancer model. Cells overexpressing CCL7

accelerated early phase of tumor growth and led to higher lung metastasis rate in tumorbearing mice. Lastly, higher CCR2 expression, which is a CCL7 receptor, was associated with shorter overall survival of colorectal cancer patients.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

Included in the thesis:

- I. Monika K. Grudzinska*, Ewa Kurzejamska*, Krzysztof Bojakowski, Joanna Soin, Michael H. Lehmann, Hans Reinecke, Charles E. Murry, Cecilia Söderberg-Nauclér and Piotr Religa. Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1–Mediated Migration of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Is a Source of Intimal Hyperplasia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2013 Jun;33(6):1271-9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300773.
- II. Joel Johanssson*, Tove Berg*, Ewa Kurzejamska, Mei-Fong Pang, Vedrana Tabor, Malin Jansson, Pernilla Roswall, Kristian Pietras, Malin Sund, Piotr Religa and Jonas Fuxe. MiR-155-mediated loss of C/EBPβ shifts the TGF-β response from growth inhibition to epithelial-mesenchymal transition, invasion and metastasis in breast cancer. Oncogene. 2013 Dec 12;32(50):5614-24. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.322. Epub 2013 Aug 19.
- III. Ewa Kurzejamska, Joel Johansson, Karin Jirström, Varsha Prakash, Sharan Ananthaseshan, Louis Boon, Jonas Fuxe and Piotr Religa. C/EBPβ expression is an independent predictor of overall survival in breast cancer patients by MHCII/CD4-dependent mechanism of metastasis formation. Oncogenesis. 2014 Nov 3;3:e125. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2014.38.
- IV. Ewa Kurzejamska, Natalia Landázuri, Mariusz Sacharczuk, Oksana Kovtonyuk, Marzena Lazarczyk, Sharan Ananthaseshan, Hanna Menkens and Piotr Religa. Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 7 (CCL7) affects lung metastasis in colon cancer. *Manuscript*.

Others not included in the thesis:

- I. Mensur Dzabic, Krzysztof Bojakowski, Ewa Kurzejamska, Grzegorz Styczyński, Piotr Andziak, Cecilia Söderberg-Nauclér and Piotr Religa. Significance of cytomegalovirus infection in the failure of native arteriovenous fistula. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2012 Jan;18(1):E5-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03691.x.
- II. Krzysztof Bojakowski, Mensur Dzabic, Ewa Kurzejamska, Grzegorz Styczyński, Piotr Andziak, Zbigniew Gaciong, Cecilia Söderberg-Nauclér C and Piotr Religa. A high red blood cell distribution width predicts failure of arteriovenous fistula. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e36482. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036482.
- III. Alice Assinger, Julia B. Kral, Koon-Chu Yaiw, Waltraud C. Schrottmaier, Ewa Kurzejamska, Yajuan Wang, Abdul-Aleem Mohammad, Piotr Religa, Afsar Rahbar, Gernot Schabbauer, Lynn M. Butler and Cecilia Söderberg-Nauclér. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014 Apr;34(4):801-9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303287.

* equal contribution

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION1			
	1.1	1.1 Blood vessels		
		1.1.1 Vascular remodeling	1	
		1.1.1.1 Intimal hyperplasia	2	
		1.1.2 Mesenchymal stem cells	2	
	1.2 C	Cancer	3	
		1.2.1 Breast cancer progression	4	
		1.2.2 Colorectal cancer progression	6	
		1.2.3 Metastasis7		
		1.2.3.1 Routes of metastatic spread	7	
		1.2.3.2 Mechanisms of metastasis development	8	
		1.2.3.2.1 Intravasation	8	
		1.2.3.2.2 Lymph nodes infiltration	9	
		1.2.3.3 Circulating tumor cells	9	
		1.2.3.4 Direction of metastatic spread	9	
		1.2.4 Cancer immunology	0	
		1.2.5 C/EBPβ1	1	
		1.2.5.1 Mammary gland development1	2	
		1.2.5.2 Cell survival and apoptosis1	3	
		1.2.5.3 Cell growth and senescence1	3	
		1.2.5.4 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)1	3	
		1.2.5.5 Associations with breast cancer treatment1	4	
		1.2.6 MSCs and chemokines in cancer1	5	
		1.2.6.1 CCL7 in cancer1	6	
2	AIM	S OF THE STUDIES1	7	
3	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION19			
	3.1	Study I1	9	
	3.2	Study II	1	
	3.3	Study III	3	
	3.4	Study IV2	6	
4	CONCLUSIONS			
5	ACKNOWLEGDEMENTS			
6	REFERENCES			

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CAR	coxsackie virus and adenovirus receptor
CCL7	chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 7
CCR1	chemokine (C-C) motif receptor 1
CCR2	chemokine (C-C) motif receptor 2
CCR3	chemokine (C-C) motif receptor 3
CD	cluster of differentiation
C/EBPβ	CCAAT-enhancer binding protein beta
ECM	extracellular matrix
EM	electron microscopy
EMT	epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ER	estrogen receptor
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
ΙΡγ-10	interferon γ-induced protein 10
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MHCII	major histocompatibility complex II
MSC	mesenchymal stem cell
NMuMG	namru mouse mammary gland
РуМТ	polyoma virus middle-T
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PR	progesterone receptor
RANTES	regulated upon activation, normally T-expressed, and presumably secreted
RT PCR	real time PCR
SDF-1	stromal-derived factor 1
SMC	smooth muscle cell
TGFβ	transforming growth factor beta
TMA	tissue microarray

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BLOOD VESSELS

Blood vessels provide circulatory system for the nutrients and oxygen in the body, ensuring normal tissue function. All vessels except for the capillaries contain three layers: tunica intima, tunica media and tunica adventitia (Fig. 1). Tunica intima, the thinnest layer in the vessel, is composed of a single sheet of squamous endothelial cells covering the lumen, which are surrounded by elastic connective tissue called internal elastic lamina. Endothelial cells rest on a basement membrane composed of extracellular matrix proteins, such as collagen type IV, heparin sulfate proteoglycans and laminin¹. Tunica media is rich in vascular SMCs and represents the thickest layer in the arteries. SMCs not only produce multiple ECM components (collagen, elastic etc.), but also regulate the caliber of the blood vessels in the body and thus, affect local blood pressure. Tunica adventitia is usually thickest layer in the veins and entirely comprises of loose connective tissue containing mainly collagenous and elastic fibres, fibroblasts and macrophages. Additionally, it involves nerves supplying the vessels and nutrient capillaries (vasa vasorum) in case of larger blood vessels. Adventitia has been shown to play a crucial role in vascular remodeling and development of vascular diseases, including atherosclerosis, transplant vasculopathy, hypertension as well as restenosis²⁻⁴.





1.1.1 Vascular remodeling

Vascular remodeling is a complex process of structural changes caused by alterations in various cellular processes, such as cell growth, migration or ECM modifications and depends on the interplay between produced growth factors, vasoactive substances and hemodynamic stimuli ⁵. Even though remodeling is usually an adaptive response to long-term changes in hemodynamic conditions ⁶, it can also provide background for cardiovascular diseases, such as transplant arteriosclerosis, restenosis, atherosclerosis, hypertension or diabetes.

Vascular architecture can be altered in multiple manners dependent on different stimuli. For example, in response to increased pressure in the artery, the wall/lumen width ratio changes, at the same time enhancing vessel reactivity, what results in augmented peripheral resistance typical for hypertension ⁷. Reduced lumen diameter is also related to vascular remodeling in other diseases, such as restenosis after percutaneous intervention or cardiac allograft vasculopathy ⁶. Conversely, remodeling can also lead to higher lumen diameter and can compensate for increased plaque load ⁸.

Vessel remodeling can also involve changes in the dimensions of the lumen, caused by active reorganization of wall components. Such alterations are observed in cases of vascular dilatation related to sustained high blood flow, what often occurs in patients with arteriovenous fistula and was shown in animal models ^{9, 10}, as well as in case of cell apoptosis and matrix proteolysis leading to formation of aneurysm ^{11, 12}.

Moreover, blood vessels undergo remodeling as a result of different forms of vascular injury, including transplantation. Mechanical injury can result with vessel constriction and smaller vascular lumen in response to the scarring in the outer vessel layer. Main features of transplant vasculopathy include inflammation and formation of intimal hyperplasia.

1.1.1.1 Intimal hyperplasia

Intimal hyperplasia is associated with increased cell number and amount of ECM in the intimal layer of the vessel. Physiologically, it occurs during closure of ductus arteriosus ¹³, involution of the uterus ¹⁴ and aging of human aorta ¹⁵. Pathologically, intimal hyperplasia occurs in pulmonary hypertension ¹⁶, after balloon angioplasty ¹⁷, transplantation ¹⁸, in veins used as arteriovenous fistulas or artery bypass conduits ¹⁹ and finally, in pre-atherosclerotic lesions ²⁰.

Development of intimal hyperplasia requires a few essential stages. One of them is recruitment of inflammatory cells, such as macrophages and leukocytes, to an injured artery and mobilization of vascular progenitor cells from their niches. Platelets, activated endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and macrophage foam cells produce platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and additional factors ¹, which act as a chemoattractants enabling migration of phenotypically modified SMCs from the media into the neointima and their proliferation ²¹. Moreover, PDGF stimulates production of proteoglycans and collagen. At the same time, metalloproteinases (MMPs) cause remodeling of ECM, what further facilitates SMC migration and migration. Next, intima grows in response to cell proliferation, increased synthesis of ECM ²¹, progressive apoptosis and fibrosis in media.

Cells forming neointima have been reported to originate from different sources. Namely, they can be derived from the adventitia, for example fibroblasts, pericytes, vascular progenitor cells^{2, 22} or be circulating progenitor cells, such as bone marrow–derived cells, endothelial progenitor cells or smooth muscle progenitor cells²³⁻²⁵.

1.1.2 Mesenchymal stem cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells having ability to self-renewal and differentiation into several cell types, such as osteoblasts, chondrocytes, myocytes and adipocytes ²⁶. MSCs were first isolated and amplified from bone marrow in 1970 ²⁷. In order to standardize

isolation of human MSCs, The International Society for Cell therapy established a set of criteria, including adherence to plastic in *in vitro* culture, expression of a variety of surface markers, such as CD73, CD90, and CD105 in the absence of CD34, CD45, HLA-DR, CD14 or CD11b, CD79, or CD19 surface molecules as assessed by fluorescence-activated cell sorting analysis, and capacity to differentiate to osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts *in vitro* ²⁸.

MSCs can be isolated from a variety of tissues, such as bone marrow ^{26, 29}, adipose tissue ³⁰, lung tissue ³¹, synovial tissue ³², umbilical cord blood ³³ and peripheral blood ³⁴. Even though they display different growth rates, they share capability to mesodermal differentiation and similar surface markers ^{35, 36}. Moreover, the fact that MSCs have been isolated from several tissue types of adult mice, implicates the possibility that MSCs reside in all postnatal organs ³⁷.

MSCs were shown not only to differentiate into mesoderm-derived tissue, but also ectodermderived tissue like astrocytes ³⁸ or endoderm-derived cells and cardiomyocytes ^{39, 40}. Apart from their differentiation properties, MSCs suppress proliferation of T-lymphocytes ⁴¹ and have ability to engraft, differentiate and contribute to functional recovery of ischaemic ^{42, 43}, as well as infarcted ⁴⁴ swine myocardium. Hence, MSCs have been used as a therapy in clinical trials for ischemic heart disease ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷.

Over the last decade, vascular biology field focused on analyzing the role of different progenitor cells, including mesenchymal stem cells in the formation of blood vessels ⁴⁸. Blood vessels are a source of stem and progenitor cells, what affect various vascular processes and diseases ⁴⁹. Furthermore, vessels are closely associated with stem cell niches regulating and protecting different stem and progenitor cells. Multiple studies have shown that mural cells, like smooth 50-53 to vessels from local areas muscle cells or pericytes, are recruited Since MSCs are important part of perivascular niche in several human organs ⁵⁴ and coexpress similar markers as pericytes, discussion arose about the relationship between those cell types. Pericytes not only contribute to vessel stabilization by interactions with endothelial cells, but are a source of mesenchymal stem cells and differentiate into cells originating from mesenchyme ⁵⁵.

Increasing body of evidence supports association of vascular progenitor cells with intimal hyperplasia – a process of universal response of a vessel to injury ^{48, 56}. Namely, Sca-1+ cells of adventitial origin have been shown to increase their number and proliferation rate during neointima formation in the injury model ⁵⁷. Furthermore, MSCs and pericyte-like cells contribute to restenosis after arterial injury ⁵⁸. In addition, adventitial progenitor cells are able to differentiate into SMCs that subsequently contribute to atherosclerosis of vein grafts in ApoE-deficient mice ².

1.2 CANCER

Cancer, also called malignant neoplasm, is one of the major health problems in the recent world. This term includes a broad group of diseases that cause loss of health and severe disability of the patients. It is characterized by uncontrollable cell growth and divisions, what leads to formation of malignant tumors and invasion to the other parts of the body. Invasion and metastasis do not happen in all tumor cases though, as some tumors, referred to as benign, do not cause distant metastasis. Invasive tumor cells might spread through the bloodstream or lymphatic system and form metastasis in different organs.

In contrast to other cells, the growth of neoplastic cells is autonomous, excessive and disorganized. Typical hallmarks of cancer include: self-sufficiency in growth signals, apoptosis evasion, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, sustained angiogenesis, limitless potential and tissue invasion and metastasis (Fig. 2) 59 .



Fig. 2 Hallmarks of cancer according to Hanahan & Weinberg (modified) ⁵⁹.

There are several different types of malignancies that affect humans and they are classified based on the type of cell that the tumor cells resemble, which is hence assumed to be the tumor origin. These types include:

- carcinomas: group of cancers originating from epithelial cells, including the most common cancers such as breast, colon, lung or prostate cancer,

- sarcomas: neoplasm derived from connective tissue (e.g. bone, cartilage, fat), originating from mesenchymal cells outside the bone marrow,

- lymphomas and leukemias: neoplasm arising from blood cells that leave the bone marrow and mature in lymph nodes and blood.

1.2.1 Breast cancer progression

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women and accounts for 25% of its all cases ⁶⁰. In 2012, it resulted in 1.68 million cases and 522000 deaths ⁶⁰. Although male breast cancer is more than 100 times less frequent, men have usually lower survival rates than women as a result of delayed diagnosis and more advanced disease at presentation ⁶¹.

It is very hard to determine direct causes of breast cancer, as it is a very complex disease. There

are many factors which are associated with breast cancer risk, e.g. lack of childbearing or breastfeeding ⁶², higher endogenous estrogen levels ⁶³, high fat diet, older age, smoking, viral infections, radiation, obesity and other environmental agents.

Breast cancer classification is based on several grading systems, which contribute to patient's prognosis as well as prediction of treatment response. Classification of the tumors can be assessed by means of its histological appearance. Breast cancer arises from epithelial parts of breast tissue, usually either from the inner lining of milk ducts or the lobules supplying ducts with milk and is referred to as ductal or lobular carcinoma, respectively. Additionally, breast carcinomas may be divided into carcinomas *in situ*, which are low-grade tumors that do not spread to the surrounding tissue, or invasive carcinomas, where cancer cells break through the wall of the milk duct and invade breast tissue.

Progress in science during the recent years enabled categorizing tumors based on gene expression profiling with use of microarray analysis ^{64, 65}. Owing to mRNA profiling, tumors can be identified as different subtypes, including luminal A, luminal B, basal- and normal-like ⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. Majority of breast cancer subtypes are luminal, in which tumor cells resemble the inner epithelial cell lining of mammary ducts. Luminal A subtype is usually HER2-, ER+ and/or PR+ and due to its responsiveness to hormone therapy, has better prognosis, higher survival rates and lower recurrence when compared to other subtypes ^{67, 68}. However, some luminal A tumors carry p53 mutations, what contributes to their worse prognosis ⁶⁸. Luminal B tumors tend to be ER+ and/or PR+ as well, but they have large number of actively dividing tumor cells. Moreover, their prognosis is worse, compared with luminal A subtype, due to different factors, such as bigger tumor size, lymph node positivity and p53 mutations ⁶⁷⁻⁷⁰. Basal-like tumors resemble myoepithelial cells lining basement membrane of the mammary duct ⁷¹ and usually are ER-, PR- and HER2-. They are more migratory, invasive and have a worse prognosis compared to luminal tumors ⁷²⁻⁷⁵. Normal-like tumors constitute only 6-10% of all breast cancers, are often small and tend to have a good prognosis ⁷⁵.

Some people have genetic mutations that make them more susceptible to breast cancer. However, only 5-10% of all breast cancer cases have a genetic background ⁷⁶. The most frequent gene defects are found in the *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* genes. Women who carry mutations in those genes have even up to an 80% chance of getting breast cancer. Other significant mutations include: *p53* (Li-Fraumeni syndrome), *PTEN* (Cowden syndrome), and *STK11* (Peutz–Jeghers syndrome), *CHEK2*, *ATM*, *BRIP1*, and *PALB2*.

Death of breast cancer patients is caused mainly by spreading cancer to distant organs. During cancer progression, cells escape anti-proliferative control by acquiring several mutations in tumor suppressor genes, such as *p53*, phosphatase and tensin homolog *Pten* or retinoblastoma protein (RB)⁷⁷, and secrete their own stimulatory factors, what helps them to divide in an uncontrolled manner. Attained mutations and balance between activity of oncogenes and tumor suppressors enables the cells to acquire invasive phenotype.

Breast cancer progression begins with attachment of tumor cells to the basement membrane, which is mediated by certain glycoproteins, like fibronectin and laminins ⁷⁸. Attached tumor cells, as well as other cells from tumor microenvironment release enzymes, such as matrix

metalloproteinases, which disrupt basement membrane and degrade the matrix ⁷⁹. Once tumor cells come in direct contact with remodeled stroma, their properties and behavior undergo modifications⁸⁰. They start to recruit inflammatory cells, such as leukocytes, macrophages and neutrophils to the tumor stroma, which as a result produce cytokines⁸¹. Altogether, in order to invade, tumor cells lose cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions controlled by integrins and cadherins, and become more migratory owing to released chemokines and growth factors, and recruitment of stromal cells. Subsequently, invasive cancer cells migrate towards blood and lymphatic vessels and intravasate to the circulation ⁸². Their capability to secrete pro-angiogenic factors leads to promoting angiogenesis (e.g. VEGF-A) and lymphangiogenesis (e.g. VEGF-C)⁸³. As a consequence, new vessels produce chemokines and other stimulating factors for the tumor cells ⁸⁴. Since tumor blood vessels have abnormal structure and are usually not covered with pericytes and smooth muscle cells, what causes their leakage and high permeability, tumor cells are able to enter the circulation. Moreover, tumor cells can also intravasate to the lymphatic vessels, as they lack the tight inter-endothelial junctions typically seen in blood vessels, as well as the surrounding layers of pericytes, smooth muscle cells and basement membranes ⁸⁵. Finally, breast cancer cells which passed the intravasation barrier, are able to form metastases at distant sites, such as lung, bone and liver ⁸⁶.

1.2.2 Colorectal cancer progression

Colorectal cancer is one of the leading cancer-related deaths worldwide Although survival rates of patients continue to increase with time, mainly as a result of improved diagnostics and treatment, 5-year survival remains below 60% in Europe ⁸⁷. Major cause of mortality in colorectal cancer patients is liver metastasis, either present already at cancer diagnosis stage, or developing after primary tumor resection.

Colonic epithelium consists of approximately ten million invaginations, called crypts. The base of the crypt contains dividing stem cells and multiplying daughter cells and is a starting point for the cell migration towards the epithelium surface, where the cells die and become replaced by continuously streaming new cells.

Histopathologic changes appear as a consequence of both genetic and environmental factors. Main environmental factors involve pathogen invasion, toxins, polyamines, ROS (reactive oxygen species) production and stress. Somatic and inherited mutations affect multiple genes, e.g. *APC* (adenomatous polyposis coli), *K-RAS*, β -catenin, *COX2* (cyclooxygenase-2), *SMAD4*, *TGF-\betaR2* (transforming growth factor-beta Receptor-Type II), *BAX* (Bcl2 associated-X protein), *MMPs* (matrix metalloproteinases), *E2F4* (E2F Transcription Factor-4), *MMR* (mismatch repair) genes and many others ^{88, 89}. Genomic instability enables cells to acquire necessary mutations to turn into a cancer cell ⁹⁰.

Progression of majority of colorectal cancers involves multiple morphological stages. In the beginning, some of the crypts appear to accumulate cells at the surface, forming either hyperplastic or dysplastic tissue. As a result or excessive cell accumulation, polyps start to grow and protrude from epithelial surface. Dysplastic polyps, referred to as adenomas, become more dysplastic with time, while hyperplastic polyps become cancer mainly in a nonclassical manner.

The growth of adenomas is triggered by adverse conditions like bacterial or viral invasions, subsequently causing mutation in the APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli) regulatory pathway ⁹¹ usually affecting either APC or β -catenin. APC represses β -catenin, which reduces the tendency to abnormal tissue expansion by enhancing expression of proteins promoting cell division and affecting cell adhesion. As cells migrate from base crypts towards the epithelium surface, APC expression increases and inhibits β -catenin, what in turn promotes apoptosis at the surface and at the same time provides optimal balance in production from the crypt base.

COX2 mutations are responsible for transformation of dysplastic epithelium (stage I) to early adenoma phase (stage II) and appear in the majority of human colorectal adenocarcinomas. Next stage in progression involves mutations in *RAS* genes, where the most common gene affected is *K-RAS* and less commonly *H-RAS*. *K-RAS* mutations, next to common mutations in *DCC*, *MLH1* and *MSH2* enable the transition from early to late adenoma (stage III). Additionally, late adenomas undergo other type of mutations, like aneuploidy, loss of heterozygosity or altered DNA methylation, to name a few ⁹⁰. Finally, progression to tumor metastasis (stage IV), most commonly affecting liver, lungs, bone and brain, involves other genes, such as *BAX*, *E2F4*, *MSH3*, *MSH6*, *TGF-βR2*, *BAX* and *MMPs*, *p53* and *SMAD4*.

1.2.3 Metastasis

Metastasis is a complicated process, during which cancer cells spread from the primary tumor to the distant organs in the body (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3 Metastatic process.

In order to survive and proliferate in a new tissue microenvironment, cancer cells acquire certain properties and undergo a series of metastatic events ⁹². This process is often referred to as metastatic cascade, which involves multiple steps and engagement of various signaling pathways ^{93, 94}. The most crucial events of the cascade are mobilization of cancer cells, followed by intravasation of the tumor vasculature and subsequently, extravasation and colonization at secondary sites.

1.2.3.1 Routes of metastatic spread

There are different routes, which tumor cells use in order to metastasize. The most typical one for sarcomas and some carcinomas (e.g. renal cell carcinoma) is hematogenous, in which tumor cells are transported within the blood circulation. For carcinomas, on the other hand, lymphatogenous spread is the most common and it allows tumor cells to reach lymph nodes and finally, other parts of the body. As lymphatics drain into systemic venous system, cancer cells can eventually enter

the bloodstream. Alternative route of metastasis occurs through seeding of body cavities, such as pleural, pericardial, peritoneal or subarachnoid cavities. For example, lung cancer can spread through the pleural cavity, while ovarian cancer might be transported transperitoneally to the liver surface.

1.2.3.2 Mechanisms of metastasis development

Currently, there are different theories explaining the mechanisms of development of distal hematogenous metastases. Namely, such metastases can result either from direct blood vessel intravasation at the primary site or originate from the tumor cells that have previously colonized local lymph nodes ⁹².

1.2.3.2.1 Intravasation

Intravasation initiates detachment of cancer cells from the primary tumor site and involves their invasion through the basal membrane into surrounding blood or lymphatic vessels ⁹⁵. Cancer cells can use both active and passive approaches to penetrate the vasculature.

Active intravasation assumes an active migration of tumor cells toward and into the closest blood vessel ⁹⁶. At the beginning, cancer cells adhere to venular endothelial cells, and then to the subendothelial basement membrane proteins, such as type IV and V collagen and laminin. Finally, tumor cells adhere to connective tissue components, for example type I collagen, fibronectin and hyaluronan, what contributes to tumor cell invasion into subendothelial stroma as well as growth at the site of metastasis ⁹⁷. Among the proteins contributing to intravasation is urokinase (uPA), an enzyme degrading extracellular matrix (ECM) elements and basement membrane. Moreover, uPA is responsible for activation of several growth factors and metalloproteinases (MMPs), which also degrade ECM, leading to tumor invasion and intravasation ⁹⁸. Additionally, studies have shown that tumor-associated macrophages, which are a part of metastatic tumor microenvironment ^{99, 100}, increase tumor cell migration and intravasation by secretion of chemokinetic and chemotactic factors ^{100, 101}. These factors not only remodel ECM, but also promote angiogenesis and control collagen fibers formation.

In passive intravasation, tumors spread through inactive shedding ⁹⁶. It has been shown that large numbers of space-deprived tumor cells push against each other, causing stress which might compress the vessels and as a consequence, drive tumor cells into the vessels ¹⁰². Another study supporting passive intravasation demonstrated that primary tumor trauma or massage increases the amount of cancer cells entering the bloodstream ¹⁰³.

Migratory properties, which enable tumor cell intravasation, may be acquired during a process called epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is characterized by loss of cell adhesion, repression of E-cadherin expression, as well as increased cell motility. Tumor cells, which undergo EMT may either intravasate as single cells or cooperate with non-EMT cells, helping them to complete the spontaneous metastasis process. However, even though both cell types persist in the circulation, only the ones with adhesive properties are able to attach to the vessel wall and extravasate into the secondary metastasis site ⁹⁵. Mesenchymal phenotype of an EMT cell may be reverted by mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET), which means that the

same cell is able to first enter into the vessel due to EMT and subsequently undergo MET, extravasate and continue metastatic process.

1.2.3.2.2 Lymph nodes infiltration

In the second hypothesis concerning metastasis formation, cancer cells initially invade lymph nodes and subsequently spread from lymph nodes to the blood vessels. This might be possible by tumor cell migration to the efferent lymphatics, followed by reaching vena cava, enabling further hematogenous dissemination. Although lymphatic intravasation is strongly associated with tumor lymphangiogenesis, mechanisms linking lymphangiogenesis with cancer metastasis are still under discussion. In one of the studies, PDGF-BB expression in murine fibrosarcoma cells induced tumor lymphangiogenesis, increasing number of lymph node metastases ¹⁰⁴. In other studies, tumor cells have been shown to invade into lymphatics and form metastasis through the expression of chemokine receptors, such as CXCR4 and CCR7, corresponding to expression of respective ligands (CXCL12 and CCL21) in secondary metastatic sites ¹⁰⁵.

1.2.3.3 Circulating tumor cells

Cells that have detached from the primary tumor and successfully enter the bloodstream are referred to as circulating tumor cells (CTCs). Their presence and behavior provide information on the biology of cancer and factors such as structure of vessels and metastatic potential of tumor. Breast cancer patients with higher levels of CTCs as compared with the group having lower CTCs levels, had a shorter median progression-free survival and shorter overall survival, what led to the conclusion that number of CTCs is an independent prognostic factor for patients survival at any time of breast cancer disease ¹⁰⁶.

The role of CTCs as a prognostic factor has been also demonstrated in castration-resistant prostate cancer patients ¹⁰⁷, as well as metastatic breast and colon cancer patients ^{108, 109} with use of CellSearch system developed by Veridex, a method approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the detection of CTCs in whole blood. CellSearch technology is based on immunofluorescent labeling of epithelial cells (CD45-, EpCAM+, and cytokeratins 8, 18+, and/or 19+) combined with automatic confocal microscopy. Despite its advantages, the method is expensive, not sensitive enough and detects only CTCs with epithelial phenotype. Since it is known that aberrant activation of EMT process occurs during tumor progression ¹¹⁰, CTCs can also exhibit mesenchymal phenotype ¹¹¹. Thus, the dynamic changes between epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes of CTCs have to be further investigated in order to understand the role of specific CTCs subsets in cancer metastasis.

1.2.3.4 Direction of metastatic spread

Occurrence of metastases is the one of the most intriguing, yet still not enough explored areas in cancer field. The distribution pattern of secondary growths in breast cancer has been originally proposed by Paget et al. ¹¹², according to 'seed and soil' hypothesis. This hypothesis assumes that cancer cells, in order to metastasize, have to find a location with similar characteristics to their original microenvironment ¹¹³. Nevertheless, according to another theory, proposed by James Ewing, metastasis occurs only through anatomic and mechanical routes.

It is known that particular tumor types infiltrate certain organs but the detailed explanation of this phenomenon is still unknown. However, identification of genetic determinants of cancer metastasis ¹¹⁴ and CTCs' infiltration into specific organs ^{115, 116} provided new insights into targeted cancer spread.

Breast cancer metastasizes mainly to bone, lungs, regional lymph nodes, liver and brain. There are many various barriers that prevent CTCs to infiltrate specific organs, including basement membrane as a physical barrier, reactive oxygen species, low pH and hypoxia as chemical barriers and many biological factors, such as immune response or cytokines ¹¹⁷. Moreover, organ-specific metastasis is largely influenced by expression of receptors on tumor cells, regulation by adhesion molecules and chemoattractants, as well as certain physical features of colonized organs. For example, bone marrow, as one of most common secondary sites of metastasis, is built of capillaries, referred to as sinusoids, which are composed of epithelial cells cross-linked with cell gates allowing for penetration of hematopoietic cells ¹¹⁸. In a similar manner, the structure of liver capillaries facilitates CTCs' extravasation ¹¹⁹. In lung vasculature, which is another frequent metastasis target site, a metadherin binding site has been found, a protein that is overexpressed in metastatic breast cancer ¹²⁰. Compared to the other metastatic sites, brain is the most difficult organ to colonize, as cancer cells have to pass the blood-brain barrier in order to create micrometastases. However, the homing or adhesion mechanisms, facilitating brain metastasis still remain unclear.

1.2.4 Cancer immunology

Cancer immunology is an area in medicine and research, focused on the interplay between cancer and immunological system. There are two main concepts which are closely related to cancer immunology – immunosurveillance and immunoediting. The idea that the immune system could defend the host from neoplastic disease was originally proposed by Ehrlich ¹²¹ in 1909, but officially cancer immunosurveillance term was introduced nearly 50 years later by Burnet and Thomas, who identified lymphocytes as main guardians in immune sytem that recognize and destroy quickly arising transformed cells ¹²². Described process aims at host protection, inhibition of cancer development and maintenance of cell homeostasis ¹²³. Immunosurveillance is included into more basic concept of immunoediting, which assumes that immune system is a major host defender against cancer ¹²³. Immunoediting involves three consecutive stages: elimination, equilibrium and escape ¹²⁴.

Elimination stage consists of a series of events, initiated when the innate immune system cells recognizes the presence of a growing tumor, due to local tissue disruption, caused by stromal remodeling process. This remodeling process, resulting from angiogenesis and tissue-invasive growth, induces production of inflammatory molecules, which together with tumor-produced chemokines ¹²⁵ recruit the innate immune system cells to the tumor site. Among recruited cells there are natural killers T (NKT) cells, natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, which use different means of ligand recognition of the tumor cells. This process leads to the production of IFN- γ , which is a key step in progression of antitumoral response. Subsequently, IFN- γ induces local production of chemokines, which recruit more cells of the innate immune system, and lead to tumor death by activating several IFN- γ -mediated processes, having an angiostatic ¹²⁶, proapoptotic ¹²⁷ and antiproliferative ¹²⁸ effects on the tumor.

Additionally, IFN- γ -activated macrophages and NK cells can destroy tumor cells by either perforin ¹²⁹, or TRAIL-dependent ¹³⁰ mechanisms. Consequently, tumor antigens become accessible and tumor-specific adaptive immune system becomes involved. Immature dendritic cells that have been attracted to the tumor area are activated via cytokines released by innate immune response or interaction with recruited NK cells ¹³¹. After activation, dendritic cells acquire tumor antigens and migrate to the draining lymph nodes ¹³², where they trigger differentiation of naïve tumor-specific Th1 cells. Th1 cells are a subgroup of CD4+ T-cells, which facilitate development of tumor-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cells ¹³³. Finally, CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells home to the tumor site and kill the antigen-bearing tumor cells.

Cancer cells that have not been eradicated during the previous phase enter equilibrium stage. In this stage, IFN- γ and lymphocytes exert selection pressure on remaining tumor cells, which lack genetic stability. Even though many tumor cells are destroyed during this process, new tumor cells clones with decreased immunogenicity arise.

Selected tumor clones enter escape stage and are able to expand ad form clinically detectable tumors. Cancer cells use different strategies to avoid host's antitumor immune response, such as release of immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10, TGF- β) or involvement of regulatory T cells ¹²⁴. Tumor escape might also be a result of changes occurring directly at the tumor level. These changes might affect tumor recognition by effector cells, for example by losing MHC components ¹³⁴, losing tumor-specific antigen expression, downregulation of NKG2D ¹³⁵ or developing insensitivity to IFN- γ ¹³⁶. Other possible alterations allow the tumors to escape immune responses, for example by developing apoptosis resistance ¹³⁷ or faulty death-receptor signaling ¹³⁸. Identification of more escape mechanisms might provide essential information on interactions between the tumor and immune system.

Cancer immunology research is focused on discovering new cancer immunotherapies, such as vaccines or antibody therapies. In order to achieve this, it is necessary to identify the targets for immune recognition in cancer ¹²². For example, presence of lymphocytic infiltration in the tumor have been correlated with improved clinical outcomes of colorectal cancer patients ¹³⁹.

1.2.5 C/EBPβ

C/EBP β is a protein belonging to C/EBP (CCAT-enhancer-binding protein) family, which regulates expression of several genes controlling cell proliferation, differentiation, inflammation and metabolism. C/EBP family consists of six transcription factors called C/EBP α to C/EBP ζ and is characterized by presence of basic leucine zipper (bZIP) domain at the C-terminus, which is required for dimerization and DNA binding.

C/EBP β can form heterodimers with other members of the C/EBP family, such as C/EBP α , C/EBP γ and C/EBP δ , as well as with other transcription factors like CREB1 ¹⁴⁰ or Sp1 ¹⁴¹. It is also capable of binding as a homodimer to certain DNA regulatory regions and hence, controlling the expression of numerous target genes. Among them, there are genes playing a role in the nervous system, such as PPT-A (preprotachykinin) gene ¹⁴² and the choline acetyltransferase gene ¹⁴³.

The intronless C/EBP β gene encodes three different protein isoforms: LAP1, LAP2 (liverenriched activator proteins) and LIP (liver-enriched inhibitor protein), expressed depending on differential use of specific in-frame translation sites ^{144, 145}. While LAP1 and LAP2 are transcriptional activators, LIP usually plays the role of their inhibitor. Nevertheless, functions of all C/EBP β isoforms are still under investigation and largely dependent on the cellular context. Alternative C/EBP β isoform production is tightly regulated by the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, where mTOR activation stimulates LIP expression and mTOR inhibition enhances LAP production ¹⁴⁶. Additionally, the truncated LIP isoform may beformed by partial proteolysis of longer C/EBP β isoforms ¹⁴⁷. While all the isoforms contain C-terminal bZIP domain, LAP1 and LAP2 harbor also N-terminal transactivation and chromatin remodeling domains. The ratio of C/EBP β isoforms is thought to determine cell fate ^{148, 149}.

As a transcription factor, C/EBP β interacts with several target genes and is required for a variety of biological processes, such as adipogenesis (126-129), embryogenesis ¹⁵⁰, granulopoiesis ¹⁵¹, muscle repair (116-118) and osteoporosis (121-125). Moreover, it is involved in controlling cell growth, autophagy and antibacterial defense (130-131), as well as in regulating insulin level and insulin receptors expression (132-134). Finally, C/EBP β regulates multiple genes responsible for immune and inflammatory responses. It has been shown to bind to cytokine coding genes such as IL-6 ¹⁵², IL-4 ¹⁵³, IL-5 ¹⁵⁴ and TNF α ¹⁵⁵ and be responsible for activation and terminal differentiation of macrophages, an important immune cell subtype (75). As C/EBP β expression plays a role in astrocyte inflammatory response, its expression is changed in various neurological disorders including Alzheimer's disease ¹⁵⁶, Parkinson's disease ¹⁵⁷ and HIV-1-associated dementia ¹⁵⁸.

In this thesis, particular emphasis is put on the role of C/EBP β in breast cancer. Its gene is usually not mutated in this form of cancer. A few rare mutations that have been found are doubted to contribute to epithelial tumors ¹⁵⁹. Nevertheless, C/EBP β might be amplified in a small subgroup of breast neoplasia, described as lobular carcinoma in situ ¹⁶⁰. Elevated levels of C/EBP β mRNA are associated with metastatic breast cancer ¹⁶¹, higher tumor grade ^{162, 163} and overall worse prognosis ¹⁶¹.

1.2.5.1 Mammary gland development

Both LAP1 and LAP2 are expressed in non-malignant, human mammary epithelial cells ¹⁶⁴, as well as in breast tumors ^{165, 166}. LAP1 is mainly expressed in normal mammary cells, whereas LAP2 is found only in dividing cells, both normal and neoplastic ¹⁶⁷.

Studies *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* have showed significant contribution of C/EBP β isoforms to the mammary gland development and breast cancer. For instance, *in vitro* studies have shown that LIP overexpression in mouse mammary epithelial cells ¹⁶⁸ or fibroblasts ¹⁶⁹ causes lack of contact inhibition, increased proliferation and foci formation. Additionally, transgenic mice with overexpression of LIP in the mammary gland develop alveolar hyperplasia, high grade mammary intraepithelial neoplasias as well as invasive and noninvasive carcinomas ¹⁶⁸.

Other studies, using C/EBP β -/- mice, revealed that C/EBP β is necessary for ductal morphogenesis, epithelial cell proliferation and functional differentiation in the murine mammary gland ^{170, 171}. However, mice with abolished LAP2 expression displayed no abnormalities in

mammary gland development ¹⁷², what suggests that expression of this isoform is not crucial in this process and that LAP1 and LIP might compensate for the loss of LAP2.

1.2.5.2 Cell survival and apoptosis

The role C/EBP β in cancer might be also explained by its ability to regulate cell survival and apoptosis. For example, C/EBP β is essential for oncogenic transformation of macrophages and controls expression of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), which is an important prosurvival factor ¹⁷³. C/EBP β is also critical in survival of hepatic stellate cells bearing DNA damage due to CCL₄-induced free-radical formation ¹⁷⁴. Additionally, C/EBP β promotes cell survival by repression of p53 expression and altering its function in keratinocytes in response to DNA damage ¹⁷⁵ and carcinogen-induced stress ¹⁷⁶.

Apoptosis is a process of programmed cell death controlled by various factors. It has been demonstrated that MAPK-RSK-C/EBP β signaling is crucial for liver fibrosis and modulates stellate cell survival through caspase 8-associated protein FLIPL ¹⁷⁷. In addition, studies on C/EBP β -null mice display lowered apoptotic liver injury and reduced activation of caspase-3 ¹⁷⁸. Reduced levels of C/EBP β may also lead to resistance to DMBA-induced skin tumorigenesis by increased apoptosis ¹⁷⁹.

1.2.5.3 Cell growth and senescence

C/EBP β is often involved in proliferation, for example in liver, where this process is promoted via interaction of C/EBP β with HDAC1 ¹⁸⁰. On the other hand, *in vitro* studies have shown that forced expression of LAP2 may lead to growth arrest in normal cells, such as keratinocytes ¹⁸¹ or fibroblasts ¹⁸², as well as in cancer cells like hepatocarcinoma cells ¹⁸³. It has also been demonstrated that oncogene-induced senescence involves C/EBP β -dependent expression of certain chemokines, such as CXCR2 ¹⁸⁴ and activation of the inflammatory networks ¹⁸⁵. In addition to that, C/EBP β is required for Ras-induced senescence by acting downstream or independently of p19ARF/p53 ¹⁸⁶.

Overexpression of LAP2 in MCF10A cells leads to foci formation, anchorage independence, epithelial-mesenchymal transition and acquirement of invasive phenotype ¹⁸⁷. Nevertheless, LAP2 overexpression in LIP-rich breast cancer cells causes decreased proliferation and senescence ¹⁶⁶. Hence, the ratio of C/EBP β isoforms is essential for normal cell growth and development and their altered expression may lead to aggressive forms of breast cancer. For example, a high LIP: LAP ratio in human breast carcinomas correlates with more aggressive phenotype and poor prognosis ^{165, 188, 189}.

1.2.5.4 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a reversible process allowing epithelial cells to lose their cell polarity and cell-cell adhesion, and to achieve migratory and invasive abilities to transdifferentiate into mesenchymal-like cells ^{190, 191}. It has been shown that cycles of both EMT and MET (mesenchymal-epithelial transition) are required for embryo formation ¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁴. Nevertheless, EMT occurs also in wound healing, organ fibrosis, as well as cancer progression ^{192, 195}. Epithelial cells are in close contact to each other owing to tight junctions, gap junctions and adherens junctions, have apico-basal polarity high E-cadherin expression, polarized actin cytoskeleton and rest on a basal lamina. Conversely, mesenchymal stem cells communicate with each other only by focal points ¹⁹⁶, lack polarization and display spindle-shaped morphology, expressing factors such as N-cadherin, fibronectin and vimentin. Therefore, EMT involves prominent changes on a morphological, as well as phenotypical level.

The crucial event in EMT involves loss of E-cadherin, which is controlled by different transcription factors. While Snail1, Snail2 (Slug), ZEB1, ZEB2, E47 and KLF8 repress E-cadherin transcription, other factors like Twist, Goosecoid, TCF4 or FOXC2 repress E-cadherin expression in an indirect manner. In addition, EMT can be induced by several growth factors in cancer, including Notch ¹⁹⁷, epidermal growth factor (EGF) ¹⁹⁸, hepatic growth factor (HGF) ¹⁹⁹, Wnt factors ²⁰⁰, and transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) ²⁰¹, which is considered to be a major EMT inducer in cancer.

Studies on the invasive cancer front showed cancer cells expressing both epithelial and mesenchymal markers, spreading from tumor mass into the adjacent stroma. Different cancer cell phenotypes and EMT were described in multiple cancer types, including breast ²⁰², colon ²⁰³, cervical ²⁰⁴, thyroid ²⁰⁵, ovarian ²⁰⁶ and oral squamous cell carcinoma ²⁰⁷. Moreover, EMT have been shown to promote metastasis ²⁰⁸ and associated with metaplastic ²⁰⁹ and basal-like breast carcinoma ²¹⁰, as well as other higher tumor grades, what suggests that EMT might aggrevate clinical outcome ²¹¹. Additionally, some of EMT markers, like Snail and Twist, correlate correlate with relapse of breast ²¹², bladder ²¹³ and ovarian cancer ²¹⁴.

1.2.5.5 Associations with breast cancer treatment

Interplay between epithelium and stroma is crucial for aromatase expression and estrogen production in breast cancer tissue ²¹⁵. Upregulated aromatase expression in breast fibroblasts increases production of estradiol (E2), activating several carcinogenic genes via estrogen receptor- α (ER α) in malignant epithelial cells. In order to avoid this effect, aromatase inhibitors (AIs) are used in the clinics, being nowadays the most effective hormonal treatment for estrogen-responsive breast cancer ²¹⁶. As aromatase expression is controlled by different signaling pathways, it is highly desirable to target these pathways and inhibit estrogen production in selected tissues. C/EBP β has been shown to regulate aromatase expression in human fibroblasts in the breast adipose tissue, and therefore, it might indirectly contribute to breast cancer progression ²¹⁷.

Another example of indirect role of C/EBP β in breast cancer is its ability to activate the genes conferring multidrug resistance to the cells, such as ABCC2 ²¹⁸ or ABCB1 ²¹⁹⁻²²¹. These genes encode proteins belonging to ATP-binding cassette transporters (ABC-transporters) family, which are frequently overexpressed in breast cancers. Moreover, elevated levels of ABC transporters like ABCB1 have been correlated with chemotherapeutic outcomes ²²², what suggests that C/EBP β , by activation of ABCB1, plays a secondary role in chemoresistance in breast cancer.

Receptor tyrosine kinase signaling has a significant function in development of various types of cancer. Mammary tumorigenesis in particular is influenced by epidermal growth factor (EGF)

receptor and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor families, which are strongly associated with C/EBP β^{223} . For example, it has been demonstrated that ErbB1–EGFR signaling regulates the differential translation of the LAP and LIP isoforms, causing increased LIP expression ^{164, 224} and subsequently, higher LIP:LAP ratio, which contributes to promoting proliferation and a more aggressive disease phenotype. In addition, C/EBP β is involved in EGFR regulation of FGF activity and FGFR2 expression in breast epithelial cells ^{225, 226}.

C/EBP β has been also proven to negatively regulate one of the microRNAs that is often downregulated in tumors, miR-145. Both isoforms of C/EBP β take part in miR-145 regulatory system involving Akt pathway, what might explain the downregulation of miR-145 in cancer cells ²²⁷.

In summary, C/EBP β is involved in many aspects of breast cancer development and progression by affecting several biological pathways. However, additional *in vitro*, as well as *in vivo* studies are needed to unravel the specific mechanisms explaining C/EBP β function in breast cancer.

1.2.6 MSCs and chemokines in cancer

Mesenchymal stem cells as a part of tumor microenvironment are important factor affecting tumor development ²²⁸. However, their role in this process still remains controversial. Dependent on the biological context and multiple factors, they might either promote tumor progression or act as tumor suppressors. Using different sources of tissue, individual donor variability and timing of MSCs injection contributes to discrepancies between the studies. Furthermore, expression of certain receptors (e.g. toll-like receptor, TLR) fluctuates in different time points during MSCs treatment ²²⁹, what may also affect MSCs influence on cancer progression. Although it is clear that MSCs administered systemically migrate towards tumors ^{230, 231}, their precise role in cancer development is still under discussion.

MSCs have been shown to have therapeutic potential in targeting several cancer types, including breast cancer ²³², brain tumors ²³³, liver cancer ^{234, 235}, leukemia ²³⁶, pancreatic cancer ²³⁷ and sarcoma ²³⁸ in various animal models. Some reports indicate that MSCs suppress tumor development by cell fusion ²³⁹ or through p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) ²⁴⁰.

Conversely, other studies revealed that MSCs support tumor growth in colon cancer ²⁴¹, lymphoma ²⁴² and melanoma ²⁴³. However, this effect was explained by Klopp *at al.*, who suggested that increased MSCs proliferation in the tumor leads to augmented tumor mass ²⁴⁴. Moreover, MSCs in tumor stroma were shown to promote breast cancer metastasis by immune modulation ²⁴⁵ and regulate EMT and tumor progression in pancreatic cancer cells ²⁴⁶. Interestingly, MSCs have also been reported to be a source of cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) which are major contributors to cancer progression ²⁴⁷.

There are numerous reports describing the function of MSCs in colon cancer progression. Specifically, MSCs modulate the tumorigenicity of human colon cancer cells via interleukin-6 (IL-6) ²⁴⁸ and promote formation of murine colorectal tumors ²⁴⁹. Moreover, MSCs enhance growth and metastasis of colon cancer by promoting angiogenesis, migration, and invasion and by repressing tumor cell apoptosis ²⁴¹.

Homing of MSCs to the tumor involves action of multiple factors, controlling cell migration towards inflammation, such as growth factors, chemokines and cytokines. One of the chemokines engaged in this process is stromal cell derived factor 1α (SDF1 α), which secreted from cancer cells enhances MSCs migration towards the tumor in Helicobacter-mediated gastric cancer model ²⁵⁰. Another example is chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5), which augments cancer cell migration and invasion, and thereby, contributes to MSC-induced breast cancer metastasis ²⁴⁵.

In addition to chemokines, chemokine receptors affect tumor progression as well. Namely, CCR1 was reported to mediate accumulation of myeloid cells in the liver microenvironment, enhancing mouse colon cancer metastasis ^{251, 252}. Furthermore, CCR1 promotes liver metastasis by regulating angiogenesis ²⁵³. Another chemokine receptor, CCR2, has been found to be upregulated in MSCs subject to irradiated tumor cells and its inhibition resulted in diminished MSC migration *in vitro* ²⁵⁴.

1.2.6.1 CCL7 in cancer

Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 7 (CCL7), known also as monocyte-specific chemokine 3 (MCP-3), is a chemokine which attracts monocytes and regulates function of macrophages. Identified originally from osteosarcoma supernatant ²⁵⁵, CCL7 expression was observed in several cell types, including monocytes, fibroblasts, platelets, colon epithelial cells and some tumor cell lines ²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁸. As CCL7 interacts with multiple leukocyte receptors, it is capable of activating monocytes and granulocytes ²⁵⁹. In support of this, CCL7 has been also shown to drive TNF α -dependent Th1/Th17-mediated inflammation in psoriasis. Finally, locally overexpressed MCP-3 was shown to recruit MSCs to injured tissue and improve cardiac remodeling ²⁶⁰.

The topic of CCL7 role in tumor progression appeared in the literature already over a decade ago. One of the first described studies indicated that CCL7 gene transfer to mastocytoma cells resulted in reduced tumorigenicity, increased neutrophil recruitment to the tumor and enhanced dendritic cell infiltration in peritumoral tissue ²⁶¹. Another study showed that CCL7 gene transfection to colorectal cancer cell line resulted in tumor growth retardation and metastasis inhibition ²⁶². On the other hand, several other research groups revealed that CCL7 expression can be associated with enhanced invasive and metastatic properties. Namely, CCL7 was reported upregulated in cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) cultured with oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) cells and promoted tumor migration and invasion *in vitro* ²⁶³. Subsequently, CCL7 overexpression was associated with lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis in gastric cancer ²⁶⁴. Moreover, brain cancer metastases were shown to carry higher expression of CCL7 compared to primary tumors of renal cell cancer (RCC) ²⁶⁵. Finally, recent studies confirmed the role of COX2-MMP1/CCL7 axis in brain cancer metastasis ²⁶⁶.

Interestingly enough, CCL7 receptors CCR1, CCR2 and CCR3 were found overexpressed in liver metastatic tumor tissues of the patients and had upregulated expression levels in hepatic recurrences, when compared with primary tumors ²⁶⁷. It was also the first clinical report presenting CCL7 as a novel target in liver metastasis of colorectal cancer. Nevertheless, the mechanisms underlying CCL7 importance in colorectal metastasis have not been yet explained.

2 AIMS OF THE STUDIES

- quantitative and functional characteristics of MSCs and pericytes in the vascular wall
- characterisation of receptors for chemokines, cytokines and growth factors present on MSCs and pericytes and determining how chemokines and cytokines modulate migration and differentiation of mural cells
- studying the relationship between EMT and C/EBPβ expression in breast cancer
- analyzing function of C/EBPβ in formation of mestastasis and its effect on vascular morphology
- determination if C/EBPβ can be one of the prognostic markers in diagnostics of metastatic breast cancer patients
- analyzing crosstalk between MSCs and colon cancer
- discovering the role of CCL7 in colon cancer progression

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 STUDY I

Intimal hyperplasia is not only a healing response, but also main cause of vessel narrowing after injury. This process involves migration of vascular progenitor cells, what might lead to transplant arteriosclerosis. The goal of this study was to analyze the role of MSCs in intimal hyperplasia and to determine factors affecting their recruitment. Rejection of transplanted organs is often associated with inflammatory response and secretion of factors activating cells in surrounding tissues. Therefore, in order to find out how allografts influence the adjacent vessel tissues, we transplanted a fragment of rat isogenic (from F344 rats) or allogenic (from LEW rats) aortic graft into the abdominal aorta of F344 rats and collected samples of tissues at different timepoints.

Immunohistohemical analysis of 2-week-old allografts showed decreasing α -smooth muscle actin expression in medial layer and migration of α -smooth muscle actin positive cells to neointima. Adjacent vessels displayed similar, but less extensive structural alterations. Interestingly, electron microscopy performed at 1 to 2 weeks after transplantation, showed architectural changes in SMCs in the inner part of the media and progressing allograft deendothelization. While most of SMCs had a contractile phenotype with well-organized myofilaments, some of them exhibited synthetic phenotype characterized by increased Golgi system and ER size. Once again, similar but less prominent changes were observed in the adjacent vessels.

Staining for α -smooth muscle actin at week 4 showed less SMCs in the media, coinciding with increasing fibrosis and inflammation. In the neointima, we observed more SMCs and inflammatory cells.

Remodeling process continued until week 8, when inflammation in the allograft had already started decreasing. Medial layer developed fibrosis with enhanced ECM and allograft intima grew in size, mainly consisting of contractile SMCs and leukocytes. On the contrary, adventitia did not show structural abnormalities. The study revealed that adjacent tissue underwent structural alterations similar to the ones in allograft, but less prominent. Namely, in adjacent tissue, a thin layer of intima, as well as SMCs of both contractile and synthetic phenotypes in the media were observed.

In order to assess if neointimal cells may be derived from other vessel layers in the allograft or adjacent vessels, we performed transplantation of female-to-male F344 isotypic insert into a female LEW rat. Real time PCR analysis for SRY gene of aortic allograft intimal lesion revealed that cells derived from adjacent vessel were detected at low levels in the allograft, only at late timepoints (12 weeks after transplantation) and in 25% of rats. Therefore, possibility of adjacent vessel being a source of migratory cells contributing to formation of allograft intima was excluded.

Subsequently, another experiment was performed to determine if adventitia could provide the cells incorporated into intima. Specifically, orange cell tracer labeled male LEW adventitia was transplanted into F344 female allografts that had previously been transplanted into LEW rats. In this setting, the isogenic labeled adventitia was not subject to allogenic inflammation. 14 days after transplantation, we observed extensive migration of labeled cells into the intima, where nearly 80% of intimal cells originated from adventitia. To determine different subpopulations of adventitial progenitor cells migrating into the intima, we used flow cytometry analysis, which identified CD90+, CD44+ and sca-1+ cells as predominant cell phenotype in the adventitia. Immunohistochemical analysis and confocal microscopy revealed equal distribution of described cell populations in the adventitia and only a few CD90+, CD44+ and sca-1+ cells in the media. Double stainings for the previously used progenitor cell markers were performed and indicated that nearly 14% of adventitial cells were double-positive for CD90 and CD44, while only 3-6% of cells were doublepositive for sca-1 and CD90 or CD44.

Next, RNA microarray using allografts and adjacent vessel 2 and 8 weeks after transplantation was used as a screening method for essential factors for the recruitment of adventitia-derived cells to the intima. Increased expression of chemokines such as MCP1-1, RANTES, SDF-1 and interferon-inducible protein-10, as well as their receptors like CCR2, CCR5, CXCR3 and CXCR4, was found and confirmed by real time PCR. Additionally, PCR assays performed on nontransplanted aortas confirmed high levels of expression of mentioned chemokine receptors in adventitial cells.

Afterwards, migration assays on rat adventitial cells were performed in response to MCP-1, RANTES, SDF-1 and interferon-inducible protein-10, which identified MCP-1 as the most potent chemoattractant. Furthermore, double stainings for CCR2 (MCP-1 receptor) and progenitor cell markers used for flow cytometry analysis confirmed expression of CCR2 on CD90+, CD44+, sca-1+ cells, and to smaller extent also on NG2+ cells.

We followed our study using injury model as a way to determine if MCP-1 contributes to formation of intimal hyperplasia in a nontransplant model. Namely, arteries derived from C57BL/6 and MCP-1 knockout mice were mechanically injured and followed by transplantation of the labeled adventitia from C57BL/6 and CCR2 knockout mice. Almost half of the adventitial cells migrated to the intima and formed intimal lesion. Moreover, both transplantation to MCP-1 knockout mice and transplantation from CCR2 knockout mice hindered migration of adventitial cells by approximately 25%.

Fluorescent immunohistochemical analysis for cells coexpressing CCR2 and CD90, CD44 and sca-1 demonstrated presence of double-positive cells mainly in the adventitia and in the outer area of the media, what provided further proof of presence of MSCs in the vessels and their role in intimal hyperplasia.

Subsequently, we showed that most of the MSCs derived from adventitia were able to differentiate into SMCs. Specifically, we sorted CD90+, CD44+, sca-1+ and NG2+ cells using flow cytometry, cultured them with PDGF-BB to induce SMC differentiation and stained them for α -smooth muscle actin and myosin.

Finally, a fusion assay was performed between SMCs and adventitial cells by means of creLOX system in order to exclude the probability that adventitia-derived intimal SMCs are adventitial progenitor cells that have fused with SMCs. As a result, no fusion was noticed between adventitial cells and SMCs, even under forced conditions.

This study identified mesenchymal stem cells of adventitial origin as a cellular source contributing to intimal hyperplasia. Furthermore, it recognized MCP-1 as a potent chemokine involved in recruitment of adventitial progenitor cells to intimal lesions.

3.2 STUDY II

Cancer progression involves multiple factors, one of which is TGF β . During this process, TGF β role switches from growth inhibitor at early stage to a major inducer of EMT, invasion and metastasis in later stage. C/EBP β , an essential factor regulating mammary gland development, has recently been shown to be deregulated in breast cancer ²²³. Additionally, studies published by Bundy *et al.* suggested that C/EBP β might be involved in the TGF- β response towards both growth inhibition and EMT ¹⁸⁷. Therefore, we decided to determine if loss of C/EBP β has a preventive role against TGF- β - induced EMT in breast cancer.

In order to examine the relationship between EMT and C/EBP β expression in breast cancer cells, immunofluorescent staining followed by confocal microscopy analysis of samples of human breast carcinoma was performed. Specifically, C/EBP β was stained in combination with E-cadherin, which is an EMT marker, commonly lost in invasive cancer. In samples of well-differentiated DCIS, we observed prominent E-cadherin expression at cell-cell junctions and nuclear expression of C/EBP β in breast cancer cells.

In case of invasive ductal breast carcinomas, previously classified according to their estrogen, progesterone and HER2 receptor status, we found decreased E-cadherin expression in areas of triple-negative tumors. Moreover, these tumors expressed lower levels of E-cadherin compared with ER+, PR+ and HER2+ tumors and with HER2+ tumors. Nuclear C/EBP β staining was diminished in triple-negative tumors and linear regression analysis revealed significant correlation between expression of E-cadherin and C/EBP β in all analyzed IDC samples. Further examinations indicated to decreased C/EBP β expression in E-cadherin-negative areas compared with E-cadherin-positive areas of the triple-negative tumors.

In order to analyze C/EBP β expression during breast cancer progression, we used transgenic mouse model overexpressing the polyoma virus middle T antigen under mouse mammary tumor virus promoter (MMTV-PyMT mice). Fluorescent double stainings of tumors derived from 10- and 14- week old MMTV-PyMT mice showed prominent loss of C/EBP β expression in E-cadherin-negative areas compared with E-cadherin-positive areas of adenocarcinomas.

To study if C/EBP β is regulated during EMT, we employed commonly used model of TGF- β 1-induced EMT in mouse mammary gland epithelial cells (NMuMG). NMuMG cells, after 48h treatment with TGF- β 1, had not only decreased nuclear expression of C/EBP β , but also showed typical signs of EMT, such as: exhibited elongated phenotype, lost expression of Ecadherin and upregulated expression of vimentin. Additionally, Western blot analyses confirmed EMT phenotype of TGF- β 1-treated NMuMG cells, showing decreased levels of the junction proteins E-cadherin, CAR, occludin and claudin-3, and enhanced levels of N-cadherin and vimentin, compared with untreated cells. All isoforms of C/EBP β (LAP1, LAP2 and LAP) were decreased in examined cells and no changes in LIP/LAP ratio were observed. Furthermore, loss of C/EBP β was shown to be specifically associated with EMT. Namely, EpH4 cells, which are resistant to TGF- β 1-induced EMT were also treated with TGF- β 1. As a result, neither morphological signs of EMT, nor changes in the expression of junction proteins or mesenchymal phenotype proteins, such as N-cadherin or vimentin, were revealed. Additionally, TGF- β 1 treatment caused activation of Smad3, but did not affect C/EBP β levels.

qPCR analyses showed that TGF-β1 treatment in NMUMG cells reduced mRNA level of Ecadherin (Cdh1) by 60%, CAR (Cxadr) by 40% and C/EBPB (Cebpb) only by 20%, what suggested possible involvement of posttranscriptional mechanisms in repression of C/EBPB during TGF-\u00b31-induced EMT. In order to verify if microRNA-155 (miR-155), a wellrecognized oncomiR in breast cancer ²⁶⁸, which targets *Cebpb* in macrophages and B cells ^{269,} 270 , takes part in repressing C/EBP β in TGF- β 1-dependent EMT, NMuMG cells were treated with miR-155 inhibitor before TGF-\u00b31 treatment. Inhibitor increased C/EBP\u00b3 expression at baseline and decreased its repression during EMT, what was confirmed by immunofluorescence analysis. Interestingly, additional inhibitor's effect of 20% rescue of the repression of E-cadherin was confirmed only by qPCR, but not by immunofluorescence or immunoblotting. On the other hand, using miR-155 mimic instead of miR-155 inhibitor caused diminished levels of C/EBPB at baseline, and further repression after TGF-B1 exposure. Further qPCR comparisons between the cells indicated that miR-155 levels were approximately 4.5 fold higher in NMuMG cells compared with EpH4 cells at baseline, and even more increased in NMuMG cells upon TGF-B1 treatment, as shown in previous studies ²⁷¹. Moreover, all three isoforms of C/EBPB had higher expression in EpH4 cells compared with NMuMG cells. Loss of C/EBPß during TGF-ß1-induced EMT was inhibited by both siRNA against Smad3 and commercially available inhibitor, what proved that repression of C/EBPB was mediated through the canonical TGF- β /Smad3 pathway.

To determine whether miR-155-dependent loss of C/EBP β might sensitize cells to TGF- β 1induced EMT, we performed loss- and gain-of-function studies for C/EBP β . Lentivirusmediated knockdown of C/EBP β through overexpression of small hairpin RNA (shRNA, in NMuMG cells led to decreased expression of E-cadherin and CAR at baseline, as well as potentiated EMT induction after exposure to TGF- β 1, demonstrated by further decrease of expression of E-cadherin and CAR and increase of expression of vimentin compared with cells expressing control shRNA. Conversely, transient overexpression of LAP2 in NMuMG cells caused increased mRNA levels of *Cdh1* and *Cxadr* at baseline and diminished repression of those genes after treatment with TGF- β 1.

Subsequently, to assess if C/EBP β re-expresssion would suffice to revert cells from a more established EMT phenotype, we used long-term EMT induction in NMuMG cells, known to cause prominent EMT and evasion of cytostatic effects of TGF- β 1. NMuMG, treated for 14 days with with TGF- β 1 developed profound EMT phenotype with low expression of E-cadherin, CAR and C/EBP β . LAP2 overexpression in long-term treated NMuMG cells led to increased expression of E-cadherin and CAR, decreased expression of vimentin, but not to EMT phenotype reversion as observed morphologically. Since overexpression of LAP2 did not change expression of Zeb1, Snail, Slug and Twist, we assessed that induction of E-cadherin and CAR was not dependent on expression of those EMT factors. As already shown in previous studies, long-term treated NMuMG cells evaded growth inhibitory effect of TGF- β 1 and proliferated in a similar way to untreated cells. Additionally, LAP2 overexpression sufficed to restore the growth inhibitory effect of TGF- β 1 in studied cells.

To study the effect of C/EBP β expression on invasion, we performed chemoinvasion assays on NMuMG cells subject to TGF- β 1. NMuMG cells expressing *Cebpb* shRNA were 60% more invasive than cells expressing control shRNA, while NMuMG cells overexpressing LAP2 were 40% less invasive compared with control cells.

Since invasive properties are closely related to metastasis, we decided to determine if loss of C/EBP β would influence metastatic capacity of breast cancer cells *in vivo*. Loss-of-function study in 4T1 breast cancer model, driven by TGF- β , resulted in lower E-cadherin expression, higher vimentin expression and enhanced invasiveness towards TGF- β 1. Tumors of 4T1-implanted mice grew initially at similar pace to control tumors but their growth rate decreased during second week after implantation. Average metastatic foci number in lungs was higher in mice carrying C/EBP β knockdown tumors compared with mice carrying control tumors. Moreover, metastasis was found in 100% of mice with C/EBP β knockdown vs. in only 20% of control mice.

In order to verify the hypothesis that C/EBP β could regulate the EMT response downstream of TGF- β by serving as a transcriptional activator of junction proteins, we firstly used computer-based software enabling us to find binding sites for C/EBP transcription factors in genomic DNA sequences. Analysis revealed such putative binding sites in promoter regions of genes encoding junction proteins such as *Cdh1* and *Cxadr*. ChIP assays confirmed specific interactions between C/EBP β and regions of *Cdh1* and *Cxadr* promoters containing C/EBP binding sites in NMuMG cells. We showed that C/EBP β overexpression activated *Cdh1* promoter by twofold and the *Cxadr* promoter by 2.5-fold. While LAP2 was more potent compared with C/EBP β , by activating mentioned promoters by 5- and 4-fold, respectively, LIP effect on *Cdh1* and *Cxadr* promoters was scarce.

In further support to the role of C/EBP β in maintaining cellular levels of E-cadherin and CAR, we showed that knockdown of C/EBP β led to decreased mRNA levels of *Cdh1* and *Cxadr*. What is more, we demonstrated that C/EBP β dissociated from *Cdh1* and *Cxadr* promoters during TGF- β 1-induced EMT.

Presented study suggests that C/EBP β is able to inhibit EMT and restore the TGF- β response towards growth inhibition. Nevertheless, as C/EBP β failed to fully revert EMT, further studies are required to show the role of additional transcription factors in this process. Furthermore, C/EBP β was shown to transcriptionally activate genes encoding the epithelial junctions proteins E-cadherin and CAR. Finally, the results identify miR-155-mediated loss of C/EBP β as a mechanism, promoting breast cancer progression by switching the TGF- β response from growth inhibition to EMT, invasion and metastasis.

3.3 STUDY III

CCAAT-enhancer binding protein β (C/EBP β) is a transcription factor playing a critical role in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. Our previous study indicated that loss of C/EBP β increases metastatic spreading of mouse mammary tumor cells, but did not elucidate the mechanism by which C/EBP β expression affects metastasis. Therefore, this study aimed at explaining C/EBP β link with metastasis formation and determining the relationship between C/EBP β and survival of breast cancer patients

In order to test the hypothesis that C/EBP β is associated with progression of breast cancer, a tissue microarray containing 137 breast cancer patient samples was immunohistochemically stained for C/EBP β . Subsequently, a qualitative scoring of C/EBP β staining was performed in relationship to progression of breast cancer. This descriptive analysis showed that strong nuclear positive staining was present in the normal breast tissue as well as in some ductal cancer *in situ* (DCIS). However, C/EBP β expression in DCIS was lower compared to expression in normal breast tissue and in many nodules was mostly present in their basal layer. These nodules were surrounded by desmoplastic stroma infiltrated with lymphocytes. Thus, C/EBP β staining intensity was lower in case of inflammation combined with desmoplastic reaction in the tumor stroma. This phenomenon was strongly visible particularly in areas of microinvasive cancer. The decreased C/EBP β expression was observed in areas of invasive cancer, especially low in areas with strong lymphocytic infiltration. This observation indicates that C/EBP β might play role in progression of breast cancer and appearance of inflammation.

All samples were analyzed according to 0-2 scale by a pathologist and related to information concerning patient survival. Cox proportional hazards models and Kaplan-Meier analysis were used to assess the effect of C/EBP β expression on overall survival (OS) in univariate and multivariate analysis, adjusted for established prognostic factors. All parameters were assessed in univariate models using Cox proportional hazards models and factors significant at p<0.05 were included in the final model. In univariate analysis, independent predictors of overall survival (OS) were C/EBP β expression and tumor size. Lack of C/EBP β expression in patient samples was associated with shorter overall survival of breast cancer patients as compared with higher C/EBP β expression. These results indicate that C/EBP β expression is significantly associated with overall survival, but also related to relapse-free survival (RFS).

In order to study the effect of C/EBP β on breast cancer, a mouse 4T1 model of breast cancer implantation was employed. Two derivatives of 4T1 cells were used – one referred to as sh C/EBP β , expressing wild type C/EBP β and second one described as sh C/EBP β , with silenced expression of C/EBP β . Both tumor cell lines were subcutaneously implanted into two groups of syngeneic BALB/c mice and subsequently, tumor growth, CTC dissemination and metastasis formation was compared between the groups.

Loss of C/EBP β expression affected tumor growth, as well as morphology. C/EBP β -silenced tumors grew smaller as compared with non-silenced tumors, even though there was no difference in proliferation rate assessed by *in vitro* assay. This result suggests that tumor growth is not directly controlled by C/EBP β , but rather affected by *in vivo* factors. Additionally, a striking morphological difference was observed between the tumors. While C/EBP β -expressing tumors were characterized by large central necrosis, C/EBP β -silenced tumors formed solid tumors with extensive, pushing border growing pattern and inflammation around them.

To further characterize the effect of C/EBP β on the tumor, tumor vasculature was firstly analyzed by immunohistochemical staining for endothelial cell marker CD31. We observed more vessels in C/EBP β -silenced tumors as compared with non-silenced tumors.

The study of the tumor vasculature was followed by whole mount immunohistochemistry on tumors, which were stained for both CD31 and a pericyte marker NG2. Subsequently, results were analyzed by Visiopharm software. Despite previous results concerning differences in

vessel number, no significant differences in vessel morphology were found, when assessing features such as vessel length, area, pericyte coverage of the vessels and number of branchpoints, which were similar in both groups.

To study the effect of C/EBP β on tumor spreading and formation of metastasis, focus was put on the presence of CTCs in blood and bone marrow and appearance of metastatic nodules in the distant organs. In this model, the cells were labeled with EGFP, what allowed for calculating the number of CTC in blood and bone marrow. No statistically significant differences in number of CTC in blood and bone marrow between sh control and sh C/EBP β tumors were observed at the endpoint of the experiment (2 months following primary tumor excision).

Next, morphological analysis of the lungs of tumor-bearing mice was performed to study if C/EBP β knockdown affected metastatic spread. The ratio of mice with lung metastasis/without metastasis was significantly higher in mice carrying C/EBP β knockdown versus control 4T1 tumors, what indicated that loss of C/EBP β promotes metastatic spread of mammary 4T1 tumors. Moreover, morphological analysis showed that lungs of mice carrying C/EBP β knockdown had more prominent chronic inflammation versus lungs of C/EBP β -expressing mice. This observation is in agreement with the fact that C/EBP β affects formation of inflammatory process, as was already found in human TMA analysis.

To unravel the mechanism of how C/EBP β affects formation of metastasis, a microarray analysis was performed by using RNA extracts from 4T1 cells expressing C/EBP β shRNA or control shRNA. Gene profiling revealed a set of 559 genes that were statistically different between sh control and sh C/EBP β cells. Analysis done by Panther DB service indicates that inflammatory group of genes was the most significant among all genes. Thus, as shown on Fig. 4A, main focus was put to analysis of these genes. Representative genes included MHCII α , MHCII β and HLACII γ . Additionally, chemokines were also affected, such as CCL5, CCL7 and CCL8.

To follow the chemokines analysis, the cells were further analyzed by chemokine protein array, which did not confirm previous finding. However, many other chemokines were upregulated in the sh C/EBP β cells as compared with sh control cells, such as CCL2, CCL6, CCL12, CCL27, CCL28, chemerin, CXCL16 and IL-16.

To find if a similar pattern of differences could be observed in the tumor, the tumors dissected from mice were also profiled by microarray analysis, using RNA extracts from 4T1 tumors expressing C/EBP β shRNA, or control tumors shRNA. In this setup only 135 genes were upregulated more than 1.3 fold. The results were further processed with Panther DB service and in this case, immunological group of genes was also the most representative. Many of the genes on this list are still uncharacterized and have unknown function, however it is striking that CD3+ leukocytes were first on the list with difference equal 5 times fold. These results clearly show that C/EBP β is involved in modulation of immunological response in the tumors.

Taken altogether, the results of human breast cancer study, morphological analysis of mouse tissue and tumor growth supported the microarray data and suggested that C/EBP β is involved in metastatic process by controlling the expression of a set of genes involved in inflammatory formation. To confirm this finding, sh C/EBP β tumors and sh control tumors were stained for

CD45, CD3, CD4 and MHCII. The analysis showed that the inhibition of C/EBP β leads to an increased expression of MHCII followed by accumulation of CD45, CD3 and CD4-positive lymphocytes in the tumors. This was the most striking and significant difference between the tumors as shown by morphological, microarray data and immunohistochemical analysis.

To study, if the effect of C/EBP β on tumor growth and metastasis can be reversed by specific treatment, BALB/c mice bearing sh C/EBP β tumors were treated with anti-CD3 or anti-CD4 antibodies. The results have shown that sh C/EBP β tumors grew much bigger when treated with either CD3 or CD4 antibodies as compared with non-treated sh C/EBP β tumors, even though normally C/EBP β knockdown decreases tumor growth. Moreover, the treatment led to diminishing the differences in tumor morphology. Although no effect of treatment on the number of CTCs in the blood or bone marrow was observed in this model, the experiment confirmed involvement of CD4 T-cells in C/EBP β -dependent tumor growth. Similar conclusion was drawn from a study in T-cell deprived nude mice, which have no CD3 and CD4 cells at time of experiment, where C/EBP β -silenced tumors grew bigger than non-silenced tumors. What is more, both groups had similar ratio of lung metastasis, what shows that in this model, C/EBP β effect on metastasis formation was attenuated as compared with experiment on immunocompetent mice.

To summarize the results of presented study, C/EBP β is a predictor of overall survival in breast cancer patients, and affects tumor growth, morphology and lung metastasis formation in murine 4T1 breast cancer model. The mechanism of metastasis formation is associated with immunological response, which depends on C/EBP β -mediated activation of MHCII and CD4+ lymphocytes.

3.4 STUDY IV

Colorectal cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer-related deaths worldwide. Since in most of the cases liver metastasis is responsible for the patient mortality, a significant effort needs to be done to recognize factors controlling metastatic process, what would contribute to improving future patient therapies. Presented study identified CCL7 chemokine as one of such factors and aimed at studying CCL7 role in colon cancer progression *in vivo*. Moreover, human tissue microarray (TMA) was used to determine associations between expression of CCL7 receptors and clinical data from colorectal cancer patients.

In our study, we firstly analyzed crosstalk between murine MSCs and colon colon carcinoma CT26 cells *in vitro*. We showed that CT26 cells have higher proliferation rate, when cocultured in direct contact with MSCs after 24, 48 and 72h. Interestingly, CT26 proliferation rate was not affected when cells were cocultured with MSCs in transwell setting or subject to MSC-conditioned media. Additionally, we demonstrated increased migratory properties of CT26 cells stimulated with MSCs as chemoattractant.

Subsequently, DNA microarray was employed to find the differences in chemokines and their receptors expression between MSCs and CT26 cells. We showed that these cells differ in terms of chemokines and chemokine receptor expression patterns. We observed that CCL7 expression was upregulated, while CCR1 expression, which is CCL7 receptor, was downregulated in MSCs vs. CT26 cells. Moreover, similar results concerning CCL7 and CCR1 were obtained by PCR array analysis using cocultured CT26+MSCs compared to

CT26 cells. Next, ELISA was done to confirm obtained results on protein level. Analysis revealed that MSCs cocultured with CT26 cells in transwell system had significantly higher concentration of CCL7 compared with MSCs in monoculture. Additionally, ELISA showed that CT26+MSC coculture secreted more CCL7 compared to CT26.

To check if recombinant CCL7 affects proliferation rate of CT26 cells *in vitro*, we performed MTT proliferation assay. However, none of studied concentrations of CCL7 led to a change in proliferation rate of CT26 cells. Afterwards, with use of lentiviral transduction, we created a CT26-derived cell line overexpressing CCL7, called mCCL7+, and a control cell line, called blank control. CCL7 overexpression in mCCL7+ cells vs blank control cells was confirmed by ELISA. Comparison of produced cell lines showed no difference in proliferation rates, what once more confirmed that CCL7 has no effect on proliferation of CT26 cells *in vitro*. Surprisingly, scratch assay did not show difference in migration between compared cell lines.

In order to assess effect of CCL7 overexpression on tumor development *in vivo*, blank control or mCCL7+ cells were injected subcutaneously into mice. Study revealed that mCCL7+ cell implantation led to acceleration in the early phase of tumor growth (between day 5 to day 11), when mCCL7+ tumor-bearing mice had larger tumors compared with blank control-injected mice. Nevertheless, already 11 days post-implantation tumors continued to grow in a similar pace in both groups.

Morphological analysis of the isolated tumors showed no striking differences between the two tumor types. However, analysis of murine lungs isolated two months after tumor excision revealed that mCCL7+ cell line injection resulted in increased lung metastasis by 33% in comparison with control mice. This observation indicated that overexpression of CCL7 stimulates metastatic dissemination of CT26 tumors to the lungs. In addition, lungs from CCL7-overexpressing tumor-bearing mice had extensive intra-alveolar bleedings, absent in blank control-implanted mice.

Next, real time PCR was performed in order to determine and compare expression levels of CCL7 receptors (CCR1, CCR2 and CCR3) in blank control, as well as mCCL7+ cell line. We found that the level of CCR1 mRNA was lower by almost 30% in mCCL7+ cells compared with blank control cells. On the other hand, the level of CCR2 mRNA was almost two times higher in mCCL7+ cells compared with blank control cells. Additionally, no CCR3 mRNA was detected, what suggested that the analyzed cell types express only CCR1 and CCR2.

Finally, in order to assess the relationship between CCL7 receptor expression and clinical patient data, a tissue microarray (TMA) containing colorectal cancer patient samples was immunohistochemically stained for CCL7 receptors (CCR1, CCR2 and CCR3). Analysis performed by pathologist revealed different grades of expression of CCL7 receptors, assessed as low or high. Descriptive data analysis showed that 73% of patients who developed lymph node metastases, had high expression of CCR2, compared with only 27% of metastasis-positive patients having lower CCR2 expression. Moreover, high CCR2 expression in analyzed patient samples was associated with shorter relapse-free survival (RFS) of colorectal cancer patients compared with low expression of CCR2. In addition, high CCR2 expression was associated with shorter overall survival (OS) of colorectal cancer patients compared with low CCR2 expression, what was subsequently confirmed by Kaplan-Meier analysis. To sum up, obtained results indicate that high CCR2 expression is significantly associated with OS of colorectal cancer patients. In contrast, no associations of CCR1 or CCR3 with patient survival were found.

Altogether, presented study indicates that overexpression of CCL7 affects early phase of tumor growth and lung metastasis in mouse CT26 colon cancer model and CCR2, as a CCL7 receptor, predicts overall survival of colorectal cancer patients. However, additional work needs to be done in order to discover the mechanism, through which CCL7 regulates metastasis formation and to confirm the role of CCR2-CCL7 axis in this process.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Mesenchymal stem cells and their role in blood vessel formation have been widely discussed in vascular biology field. In **study I**, we identified MSCs derived from adventitia as a source of cells which contribute to intimal hyperplasia. Specifically, CD90+, CD44+ and sca-1+ cells were dominant subpopulations of MSCs that migrated towards the intima. Moreover, these cells expressed CCR2, a receptor for MCP-1, which was the most potent chemokine controlling migration of analyzed MSCs. This study not only confirmed the presence of MSCs in the blood vessels, but also explained their role in intimal hyperplasia, what contributes to better understanding of this process.

Apart from their function in vascular formation and remodeling, MSCs have an important role in tumor progression. However, their impact on this process still remains controversial. In **study IV**, we analyzed the crosstalk between MSCs and colon cancer. *In vitro* studies showed that MSCs increase proliferation rate, as well as migration of mouse CT26 colon carcinoma cells. Moreover, multiple crosstalk analyses revealed MSCs have higher expression of CCL7 chemokine, compared with CT26 cells. Also, cocultured CT26+MSC secrete more CCL7, when compared with CT26 or MSCs in monoculture. Subsequent *in vivo* experiments showed that overexpression of CCL7 quickens the early phase of tumor growth and leads to higher lung metastasis rate in tumor-bearing mice compared to control mice. This observation indicates that CCL7 affects lung metastasis. However, the mechanism behind that relationship remains to be elucidated. Additionally, we identified CCR2 as CCL7 receptor that predicts overall survival of colorectal cancer patients. Namely, higher expression of CCR2 was associated with shorter OS. Further studies need to be performed in order to confirm the role of CCR2-CCL7 axis in metastasis formation and its link to survival of the patients.

Tumor progression is a complicated process regulated by several various factors, such as C/EBP β transcription factor. In **study II** we analyzed the relationship between EMT and C/EBP β expression in breast cancer. Human samples analysis demonstrated that lower C/EBP β expression was associated with triple-negative tumors and mouse experiment confirmed that loss of C/EBP β was observed in E-cadherin-negative areas of the tumors. We showed that miR-155-mediated loss of C/EBP β was specifically associated with EMT. Moreover, silenced expression of C/EBP β in breast cancer cells led to higher invasiveness and lung metastasis in tumor-bearing mice compared to control mice. In addition, C/EBP β was demonstrated to be transcriptional activator o genes encoding epithelial junctions proteins (E-cadherin and CAR). Described study suggests that C/EBP β can inhibit EMT and restore response of TGF- β towards growth inhibition. Nonetheless, deeper studies are needed to show the function of additional factors in this process, as C/EBP β was not able to fully revert EMT on its own.

Study III focused on the role of C/EBP β in metastasis formation and its effect on tumor morphology. Firstly, we identified C/EBP β as a predictor of OS of breast cancer patients. Secondly, *in vivo* analysis showed that loss of C/EBP β affects tumor growth and morphology

in mouse 4T1 breast cancer model. Namely, C/EBP β -silenced cells caused formation of smaller in size, yet intact and well vascularized tumors, compared to bigger, but necrosis-containing control tumors. Furthermore, C/EBP β knockdown promoted lung metastasis formation by triggering inflammation. Specifically, inflammatory response was triggered through MHCII activation and accumulation of CD4+ lymphocytes in the sh C/EBP β tumors. Finally, blocking CD4-mediated inflammation in 4T1 mice attenuated the effect of C/EBP β on tumor growth, morphology and metastasis formation. Presented study not only found a new predictive factor for OS of breast cancer patients, but also provided new insights on effect of C/EBP β on breast cancer progression.

Both regenerative medicine and cancer field need new therapy targets, as well as predictive factors. This work not only contributed to broadening the knowledge about role of mesenchymal stem cells in vascular structure and remodeling, but also shed new light on C/EBP β as a factor affecting metastasis, tumor growth and morphology. Moreover, C/EBP β was identified as a predictor of overall survival in breast cancer patients, while CCL7, in colorectal cancer patients, what has high importance for clinical oncology.

5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to warmly thank everybody that supported me during my PhD, not only scientifically, but also mentally:

Piotr Religa, my supervisor. Thank you for helping me to develop new skills, understand better the world of science and for all the advices you gave me during my studies. I appreciate the independence you gave me and your support in my scientific choices. I enjoyed your sense of humor and coffee time with discussions about science.

Cecilia Söderberg-Naucler, my cosupervisor. Thank you for the possibility to work in your lab and experiencing support from whole group. Thank you for your continuous support and belief in me.

Jonas Fuxe, my cosupervisor. Thank you for your support and our fruitful collaboration on $C/EBP\beta$ project.

Everybody in Cia's group for all the pleasant fikas, great trip to Kiruna, going out together and support during my way through PhD.

Sharan, thanks for everything! You were always ready to take part in my experiments, and helped me with a bunch of different things, like carrying too heavy things or picking up the objects that were too high on the shelves for me to grab them! ^(C) Thank you also for help with moving to Kista and all the cinema evenings!

Aleem, thank you for the discussions not only about science, but also about the life in Sweden as a PhD ;)

KC, thank you for your support and advices about different techniques I needed help with. I enjoyed our talks about life in cell room

Vanessa, I will never forget your delicious cakes! Thanks for everything ©

Rania, thanks for your warm attitude and mental support. I also enjoy our time spent together outside the lab and our group trainings

Leah, thanks for your smile and support. I appreciate every nice word and hanging out in Stockholm!

Anna, thank you for technical help in the lab, support and nice activities outside the lab.

Helena, thanks for your sense of humor and company on different occasions

Masany, I enjoyed your company both in the lab and outside, I appreciate your sense of humor and smile ©

Natalia, thank you for collaboration on MSC and CCL7 project.

Maral, thank you for all the technical and organizational help, as well as warm support during my PhD.

Belghis, tack för din hjälp med allt möjligt! Jag uppskattar din positiv energi 😊

Atosa and Olesja, thank you for all the support and discussions about PhD life!

Jiri, Giuseppe, Lynn, Rasmus, Jessica, Alice, Åsa, Soley, Jacqueline, Klas, Ling and other members of the lab - big thank you!

I would also like to thank memebers of Göran Hanson's lab, especially:

Anton, thank you for your support, funny sense of humor and talks about physical activities and different stuff

John, I appreciate all our discussions about life and your role in bringing in some French element to the floor ;)

Andres, thanks for the support, optimism and good energy!

Ann Hellström, tack för din hjälp med allt!

Roland, Monica, Miguel, Glykeria, Katrina, Silke and Maria Jose – thank you for nice atmosphere on the floor and nice lunch conversations ©

Thank you also to all my friends outside CMM: **Ahmed**, **Cristina**, **Daniela**, **Mateusz**, **Kasia** and **Dong**, for all the movie evenings, dancing events, fun activities and discussions about life and world of science ⁽ⁱ⁾

Big thanks to my other friends abroad for visiting me in Stockholm and spending time together in other parts of the world: Aga, Agata, Asia, Ala, Karolina, Krzyś, Aashish, Andrea! I would not make it this far without you guys ©

Dziękuję Rodzicom oraz Bratu za wsparcie i nieustanną wiarę we mnie.

Asante sana Sumi na Elia, nakupenda! Your love makes me a better person.

Finally, I would also like to acknowledge the support I achieved for performing my research from: Karolinska Institute, FP7 EU IDEA, National Science Center (Poland), Robert Lundberg Memorial Foundation, Cancerfonden and EMBO.

6 REFERENCES

- 1. Thyberg, J. Phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells during formation of neointimal thickenings following vascular injury. *Histol Histopathol* **13**, 871-91 (1998).
- 2. Hu, Y. et al. Abundant progenitor cells in the adventitia contribute to atherosclerosis of vein grafts in ApoE-deficient mice. *J Clin Invest* **113**, 1258-65 (2004).
- 3. Wilcox, J.N. & Scott, N.A. Potential role of the adventitia in arteritis and atherosclerosis. *International Journal of Cardiology* **54**, S21-S35 (1996).
- 4. Ji, J. et al. Activation of Adventitial Fibroblasts in the Early Stage of the Aortic Transplant Vasculopathy in Rat. *Transplantation* **89**, 945-953 (2010).
- 5. Gibbons, G.H. & Dzau, V.J. The emerging concept of vascular remodeling. *N Engl J Med* **330**, 1431-8 (1994).
- 6. Ward, M.R., Pasterkamp, G., Yeung, A.C. & Borst, C. Arterial remodeling. Mechanisms and clinical implications. *Circulation* **102**, 1186-91 (2000).
- 7. Mulvany, M.J. The fourth Sir George Pickering memorial lecture. The structure of the resistance vasculature in essential hypertension. *J Hypertens* **5**, 129-36 (1987).
- 8. Schoenhagen, P., Ziada, K.M., Vince, D.G., Nissen, S.E. & Tuzcu, E.M. Arterial remodeling and coronary artery disease: The concept of "dilated" versus "obstructive" coronary atherosclerosis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* **38**, 297-306 (2001).
- 9. Wong, C.Y. et al. Vascular remodeling and intimal hyperplasia in a novel murine model of arteriovenous fistula failure. *J Vasc Surg* **59**, 192-201 e1 (2014).
- 10. Langer, S. et al. Cardiovascular remodeling during arteriovenous fistula maturation in a rodent uremia model. *J Vasc Access* **12**, 215-23 (2011).
- 11. Jacob, T., Hingorani, A. & Ascher, E. Role of apoptosis and proteolysis in the pathogenesis of iliac artery aneurysms. *Vascular* **13**, 34-42 (2005).
- 12. Thompson, R.W., Liao, S. & Curci, J.A. Vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Coron Artery Dis* **8**, 623-31 (1997).
- 13. Slomp, J. et al. Formation of Intimal Cushions in the Ductus-Arteriosus as a Model for Vascular Intimal Thickening an Immunohistochemical Study of Changes in Extracellular-Matrix Components. *Atherosclerosis* **93**, 25-39 (1992).
- 14. Newby, A.C. & Zaltsman, A.B. Molecular mechanisms in intimal hyperplasia. *J Pathol* **190**, 300-9 (2000).
- 15. Vink, A. et al. Morphometric and immunohistochemical characterization of the intimal layer throughout the arterial system of elderly humans. *J Anat* **200**, 97-103 (2002).
- 16. Weiser, M.C.M., Majack, R.A., Tucker, A. & Orton, E.C. Static Tension Is Associated with Increased Smooth-Muscle Cell-DNA Synthesis in Rat Pulmonary-Arteries. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* **268**, H1133-H1138 (1995).
- 17. Guzman, L.A., Mick, M.J., Arnold, A.M., Forudi, F. & Whitlow, P.L. Role of intimal hyperplasia and arterial remodeling after balloon angioplasty: an experimental study in the atherosclerotic rabbit model. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **16**, 479-87 (1996).
- 18. Salomon, R.N. et al. Human Coronary Transplantation-Associated Arteriosclerosis -Evidence for a Chronic Immune-Reaction to Activated Graft Endothelial-Cells. *American Journal of Pathology* **138**, 791-798 (1991).
- 19. Collins, M.J. et al. Therapeutic strategies to combat neointimal hyperplasia in vascular grafts. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* **10**, 635-47 (2012).
- 20. Cizek, S.M. et al. Risk factors for atherosclerosis and the development of preatherosclerotic intimal hyperplasia. *Cardiovasc Pathol* **16**, 344-50 (2007).

- 21. Bojakowski, K. et al. Arteriosclerosis in rat aortic allografts: early changes in endothelial integrity and smooth muscle phenotype. *Transplantation* **70**, 65-72 (2000).
- 22. Majesky, M.W., Dong, X.R., Hoglund, V., Daum, G. & Mahoney, W.M., Jr. The adventitia: a progenitor cell niche for the vessel wall. *Cells Tissues Organs* **195**, 73-81 (2012).
- 23. Shimizu, K. et al. Host bone-marrow cells are a source of donor intimal smoothmuscle-like cells in murine aortic transplant arteriopathy. *Nat Med* **7**, 738-41 (2001).
- 24. Religa, P. et al. Smooth-muscle progenitor cells of bone marrow origin contribute to the development of neointimal thickenings in rat aortic allografts and injured rat carotid arteries. *Transplantation* **74**, 1310-5 (2002).
- 25. Werner, N. et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells and cardiovascular outcomes. *N Engl J Med* **353**, 999-1007 (2005).
- 26. Pittenger, M.F. et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* **284**, 143-7 (1999).
- 27. Friedenstein, A.J., Chailakhjan, R.K. & Lalykina, K.S. The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. *Cell Tissue Kinet* **3**, 393-403 (1970).
- Dominici, M. et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315-7 (2006).
- 29. Piersma, A.H. et al. Characterization of fibroblastic stromal cells from murine bone marrow. *Exp Hematol* **13**, 237-43 (1985).
- 30. Zuk, P.A. et al. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cellbased therapies. *Tissue Eng* **7**, 211-28 (2001).
- 31. Sabatini, F. et al. Human bronchial fibroblasts exhibit a mesenchymal stem cell phenotype and multilineage differentiating potentialities. *Lab Invest* **85**, 962-71 (2005).
- 32. De Bari, C., Dell'Accio, F., Tylzanowski, P. & Luyten, F.P. Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from adult human synovial membrane. *Arthritis Rheum* 44, 1928-42 (2001).
- 33. Erices, A., Conget, P. & Minguell, J.J. Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. *Br J Haematol* **109**, 235-42 (2000).
- 34. Zvaifler, N.J. et al. Mesenchymal precursor cells in the blood of normal individuals. *Arthritis Res* **2**, 477-88 (2000).
- 35. Baksh, D., Yao, R. & Tuan, R.S. Comparison of proliferative and multilineage differentiation potential of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from umbilical cord and bone marrow. *Stem Cells* **25**, 1384-92 (2007).
- 36. Hua, J. et al. Comparison of different methods for the isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord matrix: proliferation and multilineage differentiation as compared to mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood and bone marrow. *Cell Biol Int* (2013).
- 37. da Silva Meirelles, L., Chagastelles, P.C. & Nardi, N.B. Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. *J Cell Sci* **119**, 2204-13 (2006).
- 38. Kopen, G.C., Prockop, D.J. & Phinney, D.G. Marrow stromal cells migrate throughout forebrain and cerebellum, and they differentiate into astrocytes after injection into neonatal mouse brains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 10711-6 (1999).
- 39. Sato, Y. et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells xenografted directly to rat liver are differentiated into human hepatocytes without fusion. *Blood* **106**, 756-63 (2005).
- 40. Toma, C., Pittenger, M.F., Cahill, K.S., Byrne, B.J. & Kessler, P.D. Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. *Circulation* **105**, 93-8 (2002).

- 41. Di Nicola, M. et al. Human bone marrow stromal cells suppress T-lymphocyte proliferation induced by cellular or nonspecific mitogenic stimuli. *Blood* **99**, 3838-43 (2002).
- 42. Schuleri, K.H. et al. Early improvement in cardiac tissue perfusion due to mesenchymal stem cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* **294**, H2002-H2011 (2008).
- 43. Quevedo, H.C. et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 14022-7 (2009).
- 44. Shake, J.G. et al. Mesenchymal stem cell implantation in a swine myocardial infarct model: engraftment and functional effects. *Ann Thorac Surg* **73**, 1919-25; discussion 1926 (2002).
- 45. Hare, J.M. Translational development of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for cardiovascular diseases. *Tex Heart Inst J* **36**, 145-7 (2009).
- 46. Trachtenberg, B. et al. Rationale and design of the Transendocardial Injection of Autologous Human Cells (bone marrow or mesenchymal) in Chronic Ischemic Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Heart Failure Secondary to Myocardial Infarction (TAC-HFT) trial: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of safety and efficacy. *Am Heart J* 161, 487-93 (2011).
- 47. Hare, J.M. et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **54**, 2277-86 (2009).
- 48. Bautch, V.L. Stem cells and the vasculature. *Nat Med* **17**, 1437-43 (2011).
- 49. Psaltis, P.J., Harbuzariu, A., Delacroix, S., Holroyd, E.W. & Simari, R.D. Resident vascular progenitor cells--diverse origins, phenotype, and function. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res* **4**, 161-76 (2011).
- 50. Armulik, A., Genové, G. & Betsholtz, C. Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. *Dev Cell* **21**, 193-215 (2011).
- 51. Esner, M. et al. Smooth muscle of the dorsal aorta shares a common clonal origin with skeletal muscle of the myotome. *Development* **133**, 737-49 (2006).
- 52. Majesky, M.W., Dong, X.R., Regan, J.N. & Hoglund, V.J. Vascular smooth muscle progenitor cells: building and repairing blood vessels. *Circ Res* **108**, 365-77 (2011).
- 53. Wasteson, P. et al. Developmental origin of smooth muscle cells in the descending aorta in mice. *Development* **135**, 1823-32 (2008).
- 54. Crisan, M. et al. A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. *Cell Stem Cell* **3**, 301-13 (2008).
- 55. Feng, J., Mantesso, A., De Bari, C., Nishiyama, A. & Sharpe, P.T. Dual origin of mesenchymal stem cells contributing to organ growth and repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **108**, 6503-8 (2011).
- 56. Caplice, N.M. & Doyle, B. Vascular progenitor cells: origin and mechanisms of mobilization, differentiation, integration, and vasculogenesis. *Stem Cells Dev* 14, 122-39 (2005).
- 57. Daniel, J.M. et al. Time-course analysis on the differentiation of bone marrowderived progenitor cells into smooth muscle cells during neointima formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **30**, 1890-6 (2010).
- 58. Tigges, U., Komatsu, M. & Stallcup, W.B. Adventitial pericyte progenitor/mesenchymal stem cells participate in the restenotic response to arterial injury. *J Vasc Res* **50**, 134-44 (2013).
- 59. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R.A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**, 646-74 (2011).

- Stewart, B.W., Wild, C., International Agency for Research on, C. & World Health, O. World cancer report 2014 (International Agency for Research on Cancer WHO Press, Lyon, France Geneva, Switzerland, 2014).
- 61. Giordano, S.H., Cohen, D.S., Buzdar, A.U., Perkins, G. & Hortobagyi, G.N. Breast carcinoma in men A population-based study. *Cancer* **101**, 51-57 (2004).
- 62. Cancer, C.G.o.H.F.i.B. Breast cancer and breastfeeding: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 47 epidemiological studies in 30 countries, including 50302 women with breast cancer and 96973 women without the disease. *Lancet* **360**, 187-95 (2002).
- 63. Yager, J.D. & Davidson, N.E. Estrogen carcinogenesis in breast cancer. *The New England journal of medicine* **354**, 270-82 (2006).
- 64. Neve, R.M. et al. A collection of breast cancer cell lines for the study of functionally distinct cancer subtypes. *Cancer Cell* **10**, 515-27 (2006).
- 65. Naderi, A. et al. A gene-expression signature to predict survival in breast cancer across independent data sets. *Oncogene* **26**, 1507-16 (2007).
- 66. Sotiriou, C. et al. Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 10393-8 (2003).
- 67. Metzger-Filho, O. et al. Patterns of Recurrence and outcome according to breast cancer subtypes in lymph node-negative disease: results from international breast cancer study group trials VIII and IX. *J Clin Oncol* **31**, 3083-90 (2013).
- 68. Network, C.G.A. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature* **490**, 61-70 (2012).
- 69. Voduc, K.D. et al. Breast cancer subtypes and the risk of local and regional relapse. *J Clin Oncol* **28**, 1684-91 (2010).
- 70. Iwanaga, R. et al. Expression of Six1 in luminal breast cancers predicts poor prognosis and promotes increases in tumor initiating cells by activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase and transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathways. *Breast Cancer Res* **14**, R100 (2012).
- 71. Abd El-Rehim, D.M. et al. Expression of luminal and basal cytokeratins in human breast carcinoma. *J Pathol* **203**, 661-71 (2004).
- 72. Turner, N.C. & Reis-Filho, J.S. Basal-like breast cancer and the BRCA1 phenotype. *Oncogene* **25**, 5846-53 (2006).
- 73. Hartman, A.R. et al. Prevalence of BRCA mutations in an unselected population of triple-negative breast cancer. *Cancer* **118**, 2787-95 (2012).
- 74. Jumppanen, M. et al. Basal-like phenotype is not associated with patient survival in estrogen-receptor-negative breast cancers. *Breast Cancer Research* **9** (2007).
- 75. Carey, L.A. et al. Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *JAMA* **295**, 2492-502 (2006).
- 76. Gage, M., Wattendorf, D. & Henry, L.R. Translational advances regarding hereditary breast cancer syndromes. *Journal of surgical oncology* **105**, 444-451 (2012).
- 77. Osborne, C., Wilson, P. & Tripathy, D. Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes in breast cancer: potential diagnostic and therapeutic applications. *Oncologist* **9**, 361-77 (2004).
- 78. Christensen, L. The distribution of fibronectin, laminin and tetranectin in human breast cancer with special attention to the extracellular matrix. *APMIS Suppl* **26**, 1-39 (1992).
- 79. Bissell, M.J., Kenny, P.A. & Radisky, D.C. Microenvironmental regulators of tissue structure and function also regulate tumor induction and progression: The role of extracellular matrix and its degrading enzymes. *Molecular Approaches to Controlling Cancer* **70**, 343-356 (2005).

- 80. Bissell, M.J. & LaBarge, M.A. Context, tissue plasticity, and cancer: Are tumor stem cells also regulated by the microenvironment? *Cancer Cell* **7**, 17-23 (2005).
- 81. Balkwill, F., Charles, K.A. & Mantovani, A. Smoldering and polarized inflammation in the initiation and promotion of malignant disease. *Cancer Cell* **7**, 211-217 (2005).
- 82. Weidner, N., Semple, J.P., Welch, W.R. & Folkman, J. Tumor Angiogenesis and Metastasis - Correlation in Invasive Breast-Carcinoma. *New England Journal of Medicine* **324**, 1-8 (1991).
- 83. Folkman, J. Angiogenesis in Cancer, Vascular, Rheumatoid and Other Disease. *Nature Medicine* **1**, 27-31 (1995).
- 84. Sarvaiya, P.J., Guo, D., Ulasov, I., Gabikian, P. & Lesniak, M.S. Chemokines in tumor progression and metastasis. *Oncotarget* **4**, 2171-2185 (2013).
- 85. Alitalo, K. & Carmeliet, P. Molecular mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis in health and disease. *Cancer Cell* **1**, 219-227 (2002).
- 86. Fidler, I.J. Timeline The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **3**, 453-458 (2003).
- 87. Verdecchia, A. et al. Recent cancer survival in Europe: a 2000-02 period analysis of EUROCARE-4 data. *Lancet Oncol* **8**, 784-96 (2007).
- 88. Grady, W.M. & Markowitz, S. Genomic instability and colorectal cancer. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* **16**, 62-7 (2000).
- 89. Smith, G. et al. Mutations in APC, Kirsten-ras, and p53 alternative genetic pathways to colorectal cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 9433-9438 (2002).
- 90. Sancho, E., Batlle, E. & Clevers, H. Signaling pathways in intestinal development and cancer. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **20**, 695-723 (2004).
- 91. Jass, J.R., Whitehall, V.L., Young, J. & Leggett, B.A. Emerging concepts in colorectal neoplasia. *Gastroenterology* **123**, 862-76 (2002).
- 92. Bacac, M. & Stamenkovic, I. Metastatic cancer cell. *Annu Rev Pathol* **3**, 221-47 (2008).
- 93. Klein, C.A. Cancer. The metastasis cascade. *Science* **321**, 1785-7 (2008).
- 94. Daves, M.H., Hilsenbeck, S.G., Lau, C.C. & Man, T.K. Meta-analysis of multiple microarray datasets reveals a common gene signature of metastasis in solid tumors. *BMC Med Genomics* **4**, 56 (2011).
- 95. Tsuji, T., Ibaragi, S. & Hu, G.F. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cell cooperativity in metastasis. *Cancer Res* **69**, 7135-9 (2009).
- 96. Bockhorn, M., Jain, R.K. & Munn, L.L. Active versus passive mechanisms in metastasis: do cancer cells crawl into vessels, or are they pushed? *Lancet Oncol* **8**, 444-8 (2007).
- 97. Zetter, B.R. Adhesion molecules in tumor metastasis. *Semin Cancer Biol* **4**, 219-29 (1993).
- 98. Andreasen, P.A., Egelund, R. & Petersen, H.H. The plasminogen activation system in tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **57**, 25-40 (2000).
- 99. Condeelis, J. & Pollard, J.W. Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. *Cell* **124**, 263-6 (2006).
- 100. Pollard, J.W. Macrophages define the invasive microenvironment in breast cancer. *J Leukoc Biol* **84**, 623-30 (2008).
- 101. van Zijl, F., Krupitza, G. & Mikulits, W. Initial steps of metastasis: cell invasion and endothelial transmigration. *Mutat Res* **728**, 23-34 (2011).
- 102. Padera, T.P. et al. Pathology: cancer cells compress intratumour vessels. *Nature* **427**, 695 (2004).
- 103. Liotta, L.A., Saidel, M.G. & Kleinerman, J. The significance of hematogenous tumor cell clumps in the metastatic process. *Cancer Res* **36**, 889-94 (1976).

- 104. Cao, R. et al. PDGF-BB induces intratumoral lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. *Cancer Cell* **6**, 333-45 (2004).
- 105. Muller, A. et al. Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **410**, 50-6 (2001).
- 106. Cristofanilli, M. et al. Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer. *The New England journal of medicine* **351**, 781-91 (2004).
- 107. de Bono, J.S. et al. Circulating tumor cells predict survival benefit from treatment in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* **14**, 6302-9 (2008).
- 108. Cristofanilli, M. et al. Circulating tumor cells: a novel prognostic factor for newly diagnosed metastatic breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **23**, 1420-30 (2005).
- 109. Cohen, S.J. et al. Relationship of circulating tumor cells to tumor response, progression-free survival, and overall survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **26**, 3213-3221 (2008).
- 110. Thiery, J.P. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **2**, 442-454 (2002).
- 111. Yu, M. et al. Circulating Breast Tumor Cells Exhibit Dynamic Changes in Epithelial and Mesenchymal Composition. *Science* **339**, 580-584 (2013).
- 112. Paget, S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **8**, 98-101 (1989).
- 113. Hart, I.R. 'Seed and soil' revisited: mechanisms of site-specific metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **1**, 5-16 (1982).
- 114. Nguyen, D.X. & Massague, J. Genetic determinants of cancer metastasis. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **8**, 341-52 (2007).
- 115. Minn, A.J. et al. Distinct organ-specific metastatic potential of individual breast cancer cells and primary tumors. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **115**, 44-55 (2005).
- 116. Kang, Y. et al. A multigenic program mediating breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Cancer Cell* **3**, 537-49 (2003).
- 117. Suva, L.J., Griffin, R.J. & Makhoul, I. Mechanisms of bone metastases of breast cancer. *Endocrine-Related Cancer* **16**, 703-713 (2009).
- 118. Kopp, H.G., Avecilla, S.T., Hooper, A.T. & Rafii, S. The bone marrow vascular niche: home of HSC differentiation and mobilization. *Physiology* **20**, 349-56 (2005).
- 119. Schluter, K. et al. Organ-specific metastatic tumor cell adhesion and extravasation of colon carcinoma cells with different metastatic potential. *The American journal of pathology* **169**, 1064-73 (2006).
- 120. Brown, D.M. & Ruoslahti, E. Metadherin, a cell surface protein in breast tumors that mediates lung metastasis. *Cancer Cell* **5**, 365-374 (2004).
- 121. Ehrlich, P. Ueber den jetzigen Stand der Karzinomforschung. Ned. Tijdschr. Geneeskd. 5(Part 1):273–90 (1909).
- 122. Dunn, G.P., Bruce, A.T., Ikeda, H., Old, L.J. & Schreiber, R.D. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nature Immunology* **3**, 991-8 (2002).
- 123. Kim, R., Emi, M. & Tanabe, K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. *Immunology* **121**, 1-14 (2007).
- 124. Dunn, G.P., Old, L.J. & Schreiber, R.D. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. *Annual review of immunology* **22**, 329-60 (2004).
- 125. Vicari, A.P. & Caux, C. Chemokines in cancer. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 13, 143-154 (2002).
- 126. Qin, Z.H. & Blankenstein, T. CD4(+) T cell-mediated tumor rejection involves inhibition of angiogenesis that is dependent on IFN gamma receptor expression by nonhematopoietic cells. *Immunity* **12**, 677-686 (2000).

- 127. Kumar, A., Commane, M., Flickinger, T.W., Horvath, C.M. & Stark, G.R. Defective TNF-alpha-induced apoptosis in STAT1-null cells due to low constitutive levels of caspases. *Science* **278**, 1630-1632 (1997).
- 128. Bromberg, J.F., Horvath, C.M., Wen, Z.L., Schreiber, R.D. & Darnell, J.E. Transcriptionally active Stat1 is required for the antiproliferative effects of both interferon alpha and interferon gamma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **93**, 7673-7678 (1996).
- 129. Hayakawa, Y. et al. Cutting edge: Tumor rejection mediated by NKG2D receptorligand interaction is dependent upon perforin. *Journal of immunology* **169**, 5377-5381 (2002).
- 130. Smyth, M.J. et al. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) contributes to interferon gamma-dependent natural killer cell protection from tumor metastasis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **193**, 661-670 (2001).
- 131. Gerosa, F. et al. Reciprocal activating interaction between natural killer cells and dendritic cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **195**, 327-333 (2002).
- 132. Sallusto, F., Mackay, C.R. & Lanzavecchia, A. The role of chemokine receptors in primary, effector, and memory immune responses. *Annual review of immunology* **18**, 593-+ (2000).
- 133. Albert, M.L., Sauter, B. & Bhardwaj, N. Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I restricted CTLs. *Nature* **392**, 86-89 (1998).
- 134. Marincola, F.M., Jaffee, E.M., Hicklin, D.J. & Ferrone, S. Escape of human solid tumors from T-cell recognition: molecular mechanisms and functional significance. *Advances in immunology* **74**, 181-273 (2000).
- 135. Groh, V., Wu, J., Yee, C. & Spies, T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature* **419**, 734-8 (2002).
- 136. Kaplan, D.H. et al. Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **95**, 7556-61 (1998).
- 137. Catlett-Falcone, R. et al. Constitutive activation of Stat3 signaling confers resistance to apoptosis in human U266 myeloma cells. *Immunity* **10**, 105-15 (1999).
- 138. Takeda, K. et al. Critical role for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in immune surveillance against tumor development. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **195**, 161-9 (2002).
- 139. Ohtani, H. Focus on TILs: prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in human colorectal cancer. *Cancer immunity* **7**, 4 (2007).
- 140. Chen, Y.C. et al. Synergism between calcium and cyclic GMP in cyclic AMP response element-dependent transcriptional regulation requires cooperation between CREB and C/EBP-beta. *Molecular and cellular biology* **23**, 4066-4082 (2003).
- 141. Foti, D., Iuliano, R., Chiefari, E. & Brunetti, A. A nucleoprotein complex containing Sp1, C/EBP beta, and HMGI-Y controls human insulin receptor gene transcription. *Molecular and cellular biology* **23**, 2720-32 (2003).
- 142. Kovacs, K.A., Steinmann, M., Magistretti, P.J., Halfon, O. & Cardinaux, J.R. C/EBPbeta couples dopamine signalling to substance P precursor gene expression in striatal neurones. *Journal of neurochemistry* **98**, 1390-9 (2006).
- 143. Robert, I., Sutter, A. & Quirin-Stricker, C. Synergistic activation of the human choline acetyltransferase gene by c-Myb and C/EBPbeta. *Brain research. Molecular brain research* **106**, 124-35 (2002).
- 144. Descombes, P. & Schibler, U. A liver-enriched transcriptional activator protein, LAP, and a transcriptional inhibitory protein, LIP, are translated from the same mRNA. *Cell* **67**, 569-79 (1991).
- 145. Xiong, W., Hsieh, C.C., Kurtz, A.J., Rabek, J.P. & Papaconstantinou, J. Regulation of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein-beta isoform synthesis by alternative

translational initiation at multiple AUG start sites. *Nucleic acids research* **29**, 3087-3098 (2001).

- 146. Jundt, F. et al. A rapamycin derivative (everolimus) controls proliferation through down-regulation of truncated CCAAT enhancer binding protein beta and NF-kappa B activity in Hodgkin and anaplastic large cell lymphomas. *Blood* 106, 1801-1807 (2005).
- 147. Sebastian, T. & Johnson, P.F. Stop and go: anti-proliferative and mitogenic functions of the transcription factor C/EBPbeta. *Cell cycle* **5**, 953-7 (2006).
- 148. Kowenz-Leutz, E. & Leutz, A. A C/EBP beta isoform recruits the SWI/SNF complex to activate myeloid genes. *Molecular cell* **4**, 735-43 (1999).
- 149. Nerlov, C. The C/EBP family of transcription factors: a paradigm for interaction between gene expression and proliferation control. *Trends in Cell Biology* **17**, 318-324 (2007).
- 150. Begay, V., Smink, J. & Leutz, A. Essential requirement of CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins in embryogenesis. *Molecular and cellular biology* **24**, 9744-9751 (2004).
- 151. Hirai, H. et al. C/EBP beta is required for 'emergency' granulopoiesis. *Nature Immunology* **7**, 732-739 (2006).
- 152. Natsuka, S. et al. Macrophage differentiation-specific expression of NF-IL6, a transcription factor for interleukin-6. *Blood* **79**, 460-6 (1992).
- 153. Davydov, I.V., Krammer, P.H. & Li-Weber, M. Nuclear factor-IL6 activates the human IL-4 promoter in T cells. *Journal of immunology* **155**, 5273-9 (1995).
- 154. van Dijk, T.B. et al. A composite C/EBP binding site is essential for the activity of the promoter of the IL-3/IL-5/granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor beta c gene. *Journal of immunology* **163**, 2674-2680 (1999).
- 155. Greenwel, P. et al. Tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibits type I collagen synthesis through repressive CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins. *Molecular and cellular biology* **20**, 912-918 (2000).
- 156. Samuelsson, M., Ramberg, V. & Iverfeldt, K. Alzheimer amyloid-beta peptides block the activation of C/EBPbeta and C/EBPdelta in glial cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **370**, 619-22 (2008).
- 157. Gomez-Santos, C. et al. Induction of C/EBP beta and GADD153 expression by dopamine in human neuroblastoma cells. Relationship with alpha-synuclein increase and cell damage. *Brain research bulletin* **65**, 87-95 (2005).
- 158. Burdo, T.H. et al. High-affinity interaction between HIV-1 Vpr and specific sequences that span the C/EBP and adjacent NF-kappa B sites within the HIV-1 LTR correlate with HIV-1-associated dementia. *DNA and Cell Biology* **23**, 261-269 (2004).
- 159. Vegesna, V. et al. C/EBP-beta, C/EBP-delta, PU.1, AML1 genes: mutational analysis in 381 samples of hematopoietic and solid malignancies. *Leukemia research* **26**, 451-7 (2002).
- 160. Mastracci, T.L. et al. Genomic alterations in lobular neoplasia: a microarray comparative genomic hybridization signature for early neoplastic proliferation in the breast. *Genes, chromosomes & cancer* **45**, 1007-17 (2006).
- 161. van de Vijver, M.J. et al. A gene-expression signature as a predictor of survival in breast cancer. *The New England journal of medicine* **347**, 1999-2009 (2002).
- 162. van 't Veer, L.J. et al. Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. *Nature* **415**, 530-6 (2002).
- 163. Finak, G. et al. Stromal gene expression predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer. *Nature medicine* **14**, 518-27 (2008).
- 164. Baldwin, B.R., Timchenko, N.A. & Zahnow, C.A. Epidermal growth factor receptor stimulation activates the RNA binding protein CUG-BP1 and increases expression of

C/EBPbeta-LIP in mammary epithelial cells. *Molecular and cellular biology* **24**, 3682-91 (2004).

- 165. Zahnow, C.A., Younes, P., Laucirica, R. & Rosen, J.M. Overexpression of C/EBPbeta-LIP, a naturally occurring, dominant-negative transcription factor, in human breast cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **89**, 1887-91 (1997).
- 166. Gomis, R.R., Alarcon, C., Nadal, C., Van Poznak, C. & Massague, J. C/EBPbeta at the core of the TGFbeta cytostatic response and its evasion in metastatic breast cancer cells. *Cancer Cell* **10**, 203-14 (2006).
- 167. Eaton, E.M., Hanlon, M., Bundy, L. & Sealy, L. Characterization of C/EBPbeta isoforms in normal versus neoplastic mammary epithelial cells. *Journal of cellular physiology* **189**, 91-105 (2001).
- 168. Zahnow, C.A., Cardiff, R.D., Laucirica, R., Medina, D. & Rosen, J.M. A role for CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta-liver-enriched inhibitory protein in mammary epithelial cell proliferation. *Cancer research* **61**, 261-9 (2001).
- 169. Calkhoven, C.F., Muller, C. & Leutz, A. Translational control of C/EBPalpha and C/EBPbeta isoform expression. *Genes & development* **14**, 1920-32 (2000).
- 170. Seagroves, T.N. et al. C/EBP beta, but not C/EBP alpha, is essential for ductal morphogenesis, lobuloalveolar proliferation, and functional differentiation in the mouse mammary gland. *Genes & development* **12**, 1917-1928 (1998).
- 171. Robinson, G.W., Johnson, P.F., Hennighausen, L. & Sterneck, E. The C/EBPbeta transcription factor regulates epithelial cell proliferation and differentiation in the mammary gland. *Genes & development* **12**, 1907-16 (1998).
- 172. Uematsu, S. et al. The C/EBP beta isoform 34-kDa LAP is responsible for NF-IL-6mediated gene induction in activated macrophages, but is not essential for intracellular bacteria killing. *Journal of immunology* **179**, 5378-5386 (2007).
- 173. Wessells, J., Yakar, S. & Johnson, P.F. Critical prosurvival roles for C/EBP beta and insulin-like growth factor I in macrophage tumor cells. *Molecular and cellular biology* **24**, 3238-3250 (2004).
- 174. Buck, M. & Chojkier, M. C/EBPbeta-Thr217 phosphorylation signaling contributes to the development of lung injury and fibrosis in mice. *PloS one* **6**, e25497 (2011).
- 175. Ewing, S.J., Zhu, S., Zhu, F., House, J.S. & Smart, R.C. C/EBPbeta represses p53 to promote cell survival downstream of DNA damage independent of oncogenic Ras and p19(Arf). *Cell death and differentiation* **15**, 1734-44 (2008).
- 176. Yoon, K., Zhu, S., Ewing, S.J. & Smart, R.C. Decreased survival of C/EBP betadeficient keratinocytes is due to aberrant regulation of p53 levels and function. *Oncogene* **26**, 360-367 (2007).
- Buck, M. & Chojkier, M. C/EBPbeta associates with caspase 8 complex proteins and modulates apoptosis in hepatic stellate cells. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology* 41 Suppl 3, S295-9 (2007).
- 178. Mukherjee, D., Kaestner, K.H., Kovalovich, K.K. & Greenbaum, L.E. Fas-induced apoptosis in mouse hepatocytes is dependent on C/EBP beta. *Hepatology* **33**, 1166-1172 (2001).
- 179. Zhu, S.Y., Yoon, K., Sterneck, E., Johnson, P.F. & Smart, R.C. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-beta is a mediator of keratinocyte survival and skin tumorigenesis involving oncogenic Ras signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America **99**, 207-212 (2002).
- 180. Wang, G.L. et al. HDAC1 promotes liver proliferation in young mice via interactions with C/EBPbeta. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **283**, 26179-87 (2008).
- 181. Zhu, S. et al. C/EBPbeta modulates the early events of keratinocyte differentiation involving growth arrest and keratin 1 and keratin 10 expression. *Molecular and cellular biology* **19**, 7181-90 (1999).

- 182. Johnson, P.F. Molecular stop signs: regulation of cell-cycle arrest by C/EBP transcription factors. *Journal of cell science* **118**, 2545-55 (2005).
- 183. Buck, M., Turler, H. & Chojkier, M. Lap (Nf-II-6), a Tissue-Specific Transcriptional Activator, Is an Inhibitor of Hepatoma-Cell Proliferation. *Embo Journal* 13, 851-860 (1994).
- 184. Acosta, J.C. et al. Chemokine signaling via the CXCR2 receptor reinforces senescence. *Cell* **133**, 1006-18 (2008).
- 185. Kuilman, T. et al. Oncogene-induced senescence relayed by an interleukin-dependent inflammatory network. *Cell* **133**, 1019-31 (2008).
- Sebastian, T., Malik, R., Thomas, S., Sage, J. & Johnson, P.F. C/EBPbeta cooperates with RB:E2F to implement Ras(V12)-induced cellular senescence. *The EMBO journal* 24, 3301-12 (2005).
- 187. Bundy, L.M. & Sealy, L. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta (C/EBPbeta)-2 transforms normal mammary epithelial cells and induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition in culture. *Oncogene* **22**, 869-83 (2003).
- 188. Milde-Langosch, K., Loning, T. & Bamberger, A.M. Expression of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins C/EBPalpha, C/EBPbeta and C/EBPdelta in breast cancer: correlations with clinicopathologic parameters and cell-cycle regulatory proteins. *Breast cancer research and treatment* **79**, 175-85 (2003).
- 189. Raught, B. et al. Expression of a translationally regulated, dominant-negative CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta isoform and up-regulation of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2alpha are correlated with neoplastic transformation of mammary epithelial cells. *Cancer research* **56**, 4382-6 (1996).
- 190. Frisch, S.M. The epithelial cell default-phenotype hypothesis and its implications for cancer. *Bioessays* **19**, 705-9 (1997).
- 191. Kalluri, R. & Weinberg, R.A. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Clin Invest* **119**, 1420-8 (2009).
- 192. Thiery, J.P., Acloque, H., Huang, R.Y. & Nieto, M.A. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. *Cell* **139**, 871-90 (2009).
- 193. Nieto, M.A. The ins and outs of the epithelial to mesenchymal transition in health and disease. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **27**, 347-76 (2011).
- 194. Kerosuo, L. & Bronner-Fraser, M. What is bad in cancer is good in the embryo: importance of EMT in neural crest development. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 23, 320-32 (2012).
- 195. Nieto, M.A. & Cano, A. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition under control: global programs to regulate epithelial plasticity. *Semin Cancer Biol* **22**, 361-8 (2012).
- 196. Thiery, J.P. & Sleeman, J.P. Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **7**, 131-42 (2006).
- 197. Wang, Z., Li, Y., Kong, D. & Sarkar, F.H. The role of Notch signaling pathway in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) during development and tumor aggressiveness. *Curr Drug Targets* **11**, 745-51 (2010).
- 198. Ahmed, N. et al. Molecular pathways regulating EGF-induced epitheliomesenchymal transition in human ovarian surface epithelium. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **290**, C1532-42 (2006).
- Farrell, J. et al. HGF Induces Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition by Modulating the Mammalian Hippo/MST2 and ISG15 Pathways. *Journal of Proteome Research* 13, 2874-2886 (2014).
- 200. Chen, H.C., Zhu, Y.T., Chen, S.Y. & Tseng, S.C.G. Wnt signaling induces epithelialmesenchymal transition with proliferation in ARPE-19 cells upon loss of contact inhibition. *Laboratory Investigation* **92**, 676-687 (2012).

- 201. Bhowmick, N.A. et al. Transforming growth factor-beta1 mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transdifferentiation through a RhoA-dependent mechanism. *Mol Biol Cell* **12**, 27-36 (2001).
- 202. Wicki, A. et al. Tumor invasion in the absence of epithelial-mesenchymal transition: podoplanin-mediated remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton. *Cancer Cell* **9**, 261-72 (2006).
- 203. Prall, F. Tumour budding in colorectal carcinoma. *Histopathology* **50**, 151-62 (2007).
- 204. Lee, M.Y. & Shen, M.R. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cervical carcinoma. *Am J Transl Res* **4**, 1-13 (2012).
- 205. Montemayor-Garcia, C. et al. The role of epithelial mesenchymal transition markers in thyroid carcinoma progression. *Endocr Pathol* **24**, 206-12 (2013).
- 206. Strauss, R. et al. Analysis of Epithelial and Mesenchymal Markers in Ovarian Cancer Reveals Phenotypic Heterogeneity and Plasticity. *Plos One* **6** (2011).
- 207. Costa, L.C.M.C. et al. Expression of epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers at the invasive front of oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal of Applied Oral Science* 23, 169-178 (2015).
- 208. Tsai, J.H. & Yang, J. Epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in carcinoma metastasis. *Genes Dev* 27, 2192-206 (2013).
- 209. Taube, J.H. et al. Core epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition interactome geneexpression signature is associated with claudin-low and metaplastic breast cancer subtypes (vol 107, pg 15449, 2010). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 19132-19132 (2010).
- 210. Sarrió, D. et al. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer relates to the basal-like phenotype. *Cancer Res* **68**, 989-97 (2008).
- 211. Oon, M.L., Thike, A.A., Tan, S.Y. & Tan, P.H. Cancer stem cell and epithelialmesenchymal transition markers predict worse outcome in metaplastic carcinoma of the breast. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **150**, 31-41 (2015).
- 212. Moody, S.E. et al. The transcriptional repressor Snail promotes mammary tumor recurrence. *Cancer Cell* **8**, 197-209 (2005).
- 213. Bruyere, F. et al. Snail expression is an independent predictor of tumor recurrence in superficial bladder cancers. *Urologic Oncology-Seminars and Original Investigations* **28**, 591-596 (2010).
- 214. Hosono, S. et al. Expression of Twist increases the risk for recurrence and for poor survival in epithelial ovarian carcinoma patients. *Br J Cancer* **96**, 314-20 (2007).
- 215. Bulun, S.E. et al. Regulation of aromatase expression in breast cancer tissue. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1155**, 121-31 (2009).
- 216. Santen, R.J. To block estrogen's synthesis or action: That is the question. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **87**, 3007-3012 (2002).
- 217. Zhou, J., Gurates, B., Yang, S., Sebastian, S. & Bulun, S.E. Malignant breast epithelial cells stimulate aromatase expression via promoter II in human adipose fibroblasts: an epithelial-stromal interaction in breast tumors mediated by CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta. *Cancer research* **61**, 2328-34 (2001).
- 218. Tanaka, T. et al. The human multidrug resistance protein 2 gene: functional characterization of the 5'-flanking region and expression in hepatic cells. *Hepatology* **30**, 1507-12 (1999).
- 219. Chen, G.K., Sale, S., Tan, T., Ermoian, R.P. & Sikic, B.I. CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta (nuclear factor for interleukin 6) transactivates the human MDR1 gene by interaction with an inverted CCAAT box in human cancer cells. *Molecular pharmacology* **65**, 906-16 (2004).
- 220. Combates, N.J., Rzepka, R.W., Chen, Y.N. & Cohen, D. NF-IL6, a member of the C/EBP family of transcription factors, binds and trans-activates the human MDR1 gene promoter. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **269**, 29715-9 (1994).

- 221. Conze, D. et al. Autocrine production of interleukin 6 causes multidrug resistance in breast cancer cells. *Cancer research* **61**, 8851-8 (2001).
- 222. Leonessa, F. & Clarke, R. ATP binding cassette transporters and drug resistance in breast cancer. *Endocrine-Related Cancer* **10**, 43-73 (2003).
- 223. Zahnow, C.A. CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta: its role in breast cancer and associations with receptor tyrosine kinases. *Expert reviews in molecular medicine* **11**, e12 (2009).
- 224. Arcidiacono, M.V. et al. EGFR activation increases parathyroid hyperplasia and calcitriol resistance in kidney disease. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* : *JASN* **19**, 310-20 (2008).
- 225. Kagan, B.L. et al. Complex regulation of the fibroblast growth factor-binding protein in MDA- MB-468 breast cancer cells by CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta. *Cancer research* **63**, 1696-705 (2003).
- 226. Meyer, K.B. et al. Allele-specific up-regulation of FGFR2 increases susceptibility to breast cancer. *PLoS biology* **6**, e108 (2008).
- Sachdeva, M., Liu, Q., Cao, J.L., Lu, Z.H. & Mo, Y.Y. Negative regulation of miR-145 by C/EBP-beta through the Akt pathway in cancer cells. *Nucleic acids research* 40, 6683-6692 (2012).
- 228. Yagi, H. & Kitagawa, Y. The role of mesenchymal stem cells in cancer development. *Front Genet* **4**, 261 (2013).
- 229. Liotta, F. et al. Toll-like receptors 3 and 4 are expressed by human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells and can inhibit their T-cell modulatory activity by impairing notch signaling. *Stem Cells* **26**, 279-289 (2008).
- 230. Studeny, M. et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells as vehicles for interferon-beta delivery into tumors. *Cancer Research* **62**, 3603-3608 (2002).
- 231. Loebinger, M.R., Eddaoudi, A., Davies, D. & Janes, S.M. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Delivery of TRAIL Can Eliminate Metastatic Cancer. *Cancer Research* **69**, 4134-4142 (2009).
- 232. Qiao, L., Xu, Z.L., Zhao, T.J., Ye, L.H. & Zhang, X.D. Dkk-1 secreted by mesenchymal stem cells inhibits growth of breast cancer cells via depression of Wnt signalling. *Cancer Letters* **269**, 67-77 (2008).
- 233. Nakamizo, A. et al. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. *Cancer Res* **65**, 3307-18 (2005).
- 234. Qiao, L. et al. Suppression of tumorigenesis by human mesenchymal stem cells in a hepatoma model. *Cell Res* **18**, 500-7 (2008).
- 235. Gao, Y. et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing pigment epitheliumderived factor inhibit hepatocellular carcinoma in nude mice. *Oncogene* **29**, 2784-94 (2010).
- 236. Zhu, Y. et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit cancer cell proliferation by secreting DKK-1. *Leukemia* **23**, 925-33 (2009).
- 237. Cousin, B. et al. Adult Stromal Cells Derived from Human Adipose Tissue Provoke Pancreatic Cancer Cell Death both In Vitro and In Vivo. *Plos One* **4** (2009).
- 238. Khakoo, A.Y. et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells exert potent antitumorigenic effects in a model of Kaposi's sarcoma. *J Exp Med* **203**, 1235-47 (2006).
- 239. Wang, Y. et al. Fusion of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells with esophageal carcinoma cells inhibits the tumorigenicity of esophageal carcinoma cells. *Int J Oncol* **40**, 370-7 (2012).
- Tian, K. et al. p38 MAPK contributes to the growth inhibition of leukemic tumor cells mediated by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem* 26, 799-808 (2010).
- 241. Shinagawa, K. et al. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance growth and metastasis of colon cancer. *Int J Cancer* **127**, 2323-33 (2010).

- 242. Ame-Thomas, P. et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells isolated from bone marrow and lymphoid organs support tumor B-cell growth: role of stromal cells in follicular lymphoma pathogenesis. *Blood* **109**, 693-702 (2007).
- 243. Djouad, F. et al. Immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stem cells favors tumor growth in allogeneic animals. *Blood* **102**, 3837-44 (2003).
- 244. Klopp, A.H., Gupta, A., Spaeth, E., Andreeff, M. & Marini, F. Concise Review: Dissecting a Discrepancy in the Literature: Do Mesenchymal Stem Cells Support or Suppress Tumor Growth? *Stem Cells* **29**, 11-19 (2011).
- 245. Karnoub, A.E. et al. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **449**, 557-U4 (2007).
- 246. Kabashima-Niibe, A. et al. Mesenchymal stem cells regulate epithelial-mesenchymal transition and tumor progression of pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Sci* **104**, 157-64 (2013).
- 247. Quante, M. et al. Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute to the mesenchymal stem cell niche and promote tumor growth. *Cancer Cell* **19**, 257-72 (2011).
- 248. Lin, J.T. et al. Colon cancer mesenchymal stem cells modulate the tumorigenicity of colon cancer through interleukin 6. *Experimental Cell Research* **319**, 2216-2229 (2013).
- 249. Tsai, K.S. et al. Mesenchymal stem cells promote formation of colorectal tumors in mice. *Gastroenterology* **141**, 1046-56 (2011).
- 250. Stoicov, C., Li, H., Liu, J.H. & Houghton, J. Mesenchymal stem cells utilize CXCR4-SDF-1 signaling for acute, but not chronic, trafficking to gastric mucosal inflammation. *Dig Dis Sci* **58**, 2466-77 (2013).
- Hirai, H. et al. CCR1-mediated accumulation of myeloid cells in the liver microenvironment promoting mouse colon cancer metastasis. *Clin Exp Metastasis* 31, 977-89 (2014).
- 252. Kitamura, T. et al. Inactivation of chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 1 (CCR1) suppresses colon cancer liver metastasis by blocking accumulation of immature myeloid cells in a mouse model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 13063-8 (2010).
- 253. Rodero, M.P., Auvynet, C., Poupel, L., Combadiere, B. & Combadiere, C. Control of Both Myeloid Cell Infiltration and Angiogenesis by CCR1 Promotes Liver Cancer Metastasis Development in Mice. *Neoplasia* **15**, 641-+ (2013).
- 254. Ren, G.W. et al. CCR2-Dependent Recruitment of Macrophages by Tumor-Educated Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Promotes Tumor Development and Is Mimicked by TNF alpha. *Cell Stem Cell* **11**, 812-824 (2012).
- 255. Van Damme, J., Proost, P., Lenaerts, J.P. & Opdenakker, G. Structural and functional identification of two human, tumor-derived monocyte chemotactic proteins (MCP-2 and MCP-3) belonging to the chemokine family. *J Exp Med* **176**, 59-65 (1992).
- 256. Uguccioni, M., D'Apuzzo, M., Loetscher, M., Dewald, B. & Baggiolini, M. Actions of the chemotactic cytokines MCP-1, MCP-2, MCP-3, RANTES, MIP-1 alpha and MIP-1 beta on human monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* **25**, 64-8 (1995).
- 257. Menten, P. et al. Differential induction of monocyte chemotactic protein-3 in mononuclear leukocytes and fibroblasts by interferon-alpha/beta and interferon-gamma reveals MCP-3 heterogeneity. *Eur J Immunol* **29**, 678-85 (1999).
- 258. Power, C.A., Clemetson, J.M., Clemetson, K.J. & Wells, T.N. Chemokine and chemokine receptor mRNA expression in human platelets. *Cytokine* **7**, 479-82 (1995).
- Xu, L.L. et al. Monocyte Chemotactic Protein-3 (Mcp3) Interacts with Multiple Leukocyte Receptors - Binding and Signaling of Mcp3 through Shared as Well as Unique Receptors on Monocytes and Neutrophils. *European Journal of Immunology* 25, 2612-2617 (1995).

- 260. Schenk, S. et al. Monocyte chemotactic protein-3 is a myocardial mesenchymal stem cell homing factor. *Stem Cells* **25**, 245-251 (2007).
- 261. Fioretti, F. et al. Reduced tumorigenicity and augmented leukocyte infiltration after monocyte chemotactic protein-3 (MCP-3) gene transfer: Perivascular accumulation of dendritic cells in peritumoral tissue and neutrophil recruitment within the tumor. *Journal of Immunology* **161**, 342-346 (1998).
- 262. Hu, J.Y. et al. Transfection of colorectal cancer cells with chemokine MCP-3 (monocyte chemotactic protein-3) gene retards tumor growth and inhibits tumor metastasis. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* **8**, 1067-1072 (2002).
- 263. Jung, D.W. et al. Tumor-stromal crosstalk in invasion of oral squamous cell carcinoma: a pivotal role of CCL7. *Int J Cancer* **127**, 332-44 (2010).
- 264. Hwang, T.L. et al. CCL7 and CCL21 overexpression in gastric cancer is associated with lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* **18**, 1249-1256 (2012).
- 265. Wyler, L. et al. Brain metastasis in renal cancer patients: metastatic pattern, tumourassociated macrophages and chemokine/chemoreceptor expression. *British Journal* of Cancer **110**, 686-694 (2014).
- 266. Wu, K. et al. Roles of the cyclooxygenase 2 matrix metalloproteinase 1 pathway in brain metastasis of breast cancer. *J Biol Chem* **290**, 9842-54 (2015).
- 267. Cho, Y.B. et al. CC chemokine ligand 7 expression in liver metastasis of colorectal cancer. *Oncol Rep* **28**, 689-94 (2012).
- 268. Marsolier, J., et al. OncomiR addiction is generated by a miR-155 feedback loop in Theileria-transformed leukocytes. *PLoS Pathog* **9**(4): e1003222 (2013).
- 269. He, M., et al. MicroRNA-155 regulates inflammatory cytokine production in tumorassociated macrophages via targeting C/EBPbeta. *Cell Mol Immunol* **6**(5): 343-352 (2009).
- 270. Costinean, S., et al. Src homology 2 domain-containing inositol-5-phosphatase and CCAAT enhancer-binding protein beta are targeted by miR-155 in B cells of Emicro-MiR-155 transgenic mice. *Blood* **114**(7): 1374-1382 (2009).
- 271. Kong W, Yang H, He L, Zhao JJ, Coppola D, Dalton WS et al. MicroRNA-155 is regulated by the transforming growth factor beta/Smad pathway and contributes to epithelial cell plasticity by targeting RhoA. *Mol Cell Biol* **28**: 6773–6784 (2008).